# Contribution of glutaminase activity in *Lactobacillus reuteri* to acid resistance and glutamine metabolism in sourdough

by

Qian Ying Tao

### A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

in

Food Science and Technology

Department of Agricultural, Food and Nutritional Science

University of Alberta

©Qian Ying Tao, 2016

#### Abstract

Sourdough is used as an additive in bread production for proper dough volume (leavening), or for desired dough acidity, or for dough texture and bread flavor improvement, or for bread shelf life extension. *Lactobacillus reuteri*, an intestinal isolate and a stable member of sourdough, prevails in Type II sourdough fermentation, owing to the elevated fermentation temperatures with long incubation time. The aim of this study was to understand the role of glutaminase activity in *L. reuteri* to acid resistance and glutamine metabolism throughout sourdough fermentation.

An isogenic deletion mutant *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gls$ 1-2-3 was generated, by disruption of the three glutaminases (*gls*) in *L. reuteri* 100-23, for interpreting the role of glutaminase activity. Acid resistance mechanism was assessed at both pH 2.5 and 3.5 to mimic the gastric and sourdough environments; sourdough fermentation and sensory evaluation of sourdough bread were applied to establish the effect on glutamine metabolism.

Glutaminase-mediated deamidation contributes to the survival of *L. reuteri* 100-23 in both acidic environments (*in vitro*) and sourdough fermentations (*in vivo*) by converting glutamine to glutamate. Analysis of the glutamine / glutamate dependent acid resistance indicated that glutamine deamidation increases acid resistance independent of glutamate decarboxylation. Without the ability to convert glutamine, alternative acid tolerance mechanisms compensate (i.e. GAD; ADI; etc.) when *L. reuteri* can no longer rely on *gls*-mediated glutamine metabolism.

Evaluation of sourdough bread fermented with *L. reuteri* strains demonstrated a significant difference between the glutamate accumulating *L. reuteri* 100-23 $\Delta gad$ B and the  $\gamma$ -aminobutyrate accumulating wild type *L. reuteri* 100-23. In contrast, bread produced with *L. reuteri* 100-23

 $\Delta gls$ 1-2-3, which does not convert glutamine to either glutamate or  $\gamma$ -aminobutyrate, was not different from bread produced with *L. reuteri* 100-23.

Glutamine conversion of sourdough lactobacilli contributes to acid resistance, and enhances the taste of bread. Extended information on acid resistance and glutamine metabolism of *L. reuteri* furthers the understanding of *L. reuteri* to cereal ecosystems, and results will contribute to the selection of strains that can be used as starter cultures for baking improvers (i.e. production of salt reduced bread).

# Preface

# (Research ethics approval)



Amendment/Renewal to Study has been Approved

Amendment/Renewal ID:	Pro00036093_REN2
Study ID:	<u>MS2_Pro00036093</u>
Study Title:	Sensory evaluation of bread
Study Investigator:	Michael Gaenzle
	The amendment/renewal to the above study has been approved.
Descriptions	Click on the link(s) above to navigate to the HERO workspace.
Description:	Important: Please be reminded that the REMO system works best with Internet Explorer or Firefox.

University of Alberta Edmonton Alberta Canada T6G 2E1 This thesis is an original work by Qianying Tao. The research project, of which this thesis is a part, received research ethics approval from the University of Alberta Research Ethics Board, Project Name "Sensory evaluation of bread", No. Pro00036093\_REN2, Feb 20, 2015.

No part of this thesis has been previously published.

### Acknowledgement

First and foremost, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my supervisor Dr. Michael Gänzle, for the continuous support through my master's program, for his aspiring guidance, endless patience, insightful advice and immense knowledge, and for his inspiring commitment to research and science.

I am also sincerely thankful to my supervisory committee member Dr. Byeonghwa Jeon, as well as member of my examining committee Dr. David Bressler, for both of your time and invaluably constructive criticism.

In particular, I acknowledge Dr. Marica Su-Wei Su for providing the strains and plasmids for this study and I would like to thank Dr. Xiaoxi Lin and Rebecca Duar for their guidance and assistance on the construction of mutants.

I would like to thank my previous and present colleagues in AFNS-250: Ryan Mercer, Petya Koleva, Ying Xie, Tiange Shi, Fernanda Sanchez Maldonado, Xiaoxi Lin, Rebbeca Duar, Yalu Yan, Januana Texiera, Weilan Wang, Yuanyao Chen, for their help and expertise, and insightful and illuminating views on a number of issues related to the project. Moreover, thanks to our laboratory technologist Heather Vandertol-Vanier, program administrator Jody Forslund and Krasna Kos, food laboratory coordinator Susan Gibson. I am also thankful to Lisa Nikolai and Samuel Yue from the Chromatography Laboratory, for their technical assistance on HPLC analyses.

Last but not least, my heartfelt thanks also go to my friends and family here in North America and back in China and UAE, for all your unconditional love and support.

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

. Introduction	1
1.1 Use of sourdough in bread production	1
1.2 Glutamine metabolism in sourdough fermentation and flavor impact	2
1.3 Glutaminase and Glutamate decarboxylase in Lactobacillus reuteri	4
1.4 General mechanism of acid stress to Lactobacillus reuteri	6
1.5 Amino acid based mechanisms of acid resistance	7
1.5.1 Amino acid decarboxylases	7
1.5.2 Amino acid deiminases	8
1.5.3 Glutaminase and acid stress	9
1.6 Research objectives	10
. Materials and Methods	12
2.1 Strains, plasmids and culture conditions	12
2.2 Construction of <i>L. reuteri</i> 100-23 mutants	12
2.2.1 Overview of mutants generation: Mechanism of Double Cross-over Mutagenesi	is13
2.2.2 L. reuteri 100-23 mutants generation	13
. L. reuteri 100-23 Δgls2-3	14
I. L. reuteri 100-23 Δgls1-2-3	15
2.3 Assessment of acid resistance at pH 2.5 and pH 3.5	18
2.4 Sourdough fermentations and sampling	19
2.4.1 Sourdough fermentation	19
2.4.2 Determination of pH and cell counts	19
2.5 Quantification of amino acids by HPLC	20
2.6 Sourdough bread sensory evaluation	20

2.6.1 Strains and Media	21
2.6.2 Sourdough fermentation	21
2.6.3 Monitoring microbiota during sourdough fermentation	21
2.6.4 Bread baking and sensory evaluation	22
2.7 Statistical analysis	23
3. Results	25
3.1 Confirmation of <i>L. reuteri</i> 100-23 mutants	25
3.2 Assessment of acid resistance	27
3.2.1 Survival at pH 2.5	27
3.2.2 Survival at pH 3.5	
3.2.3 Glutamine conversion in pH 6.2 buffer	32
3.3 Growth during sourdough fermentation	34
3.4 Metabolism of glutamine in sourdough	
3.4.1 Glutamine, glutamate and GABA in sourdough	35
3.5 Glutamine, glutamate and GABA in sourdough bread	
3.6 Sourdough bread sensory evaluation	40
3.6.1 Demographic information	40
3.6.2 Triangle tests	41
3.6.3 Attributes ranking test	43
4. Discussion	45
4.1 Double Cross-over Mutagenesis	45
4.2 Acid Resistance of <i>L. reuteri</i> 100-23	46
4.2.1 Overview of glutamine-mediated acid tolerance in <i>L. reuteri</i> 100-23	47
4.2.2 Acid resistance of <i>L. reuteri</i> 100-23 Δgls1-2-3	48
4.3 Effect of glutamate producing <i>L. reuteri</i> on the taste of bread	49

4.4 Glutamine and glutamate metabolism in <i>L. reuteri</i> 100-23	50
5. Conclusions and future perspectives	52
6. References	53
Appendices	64

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Strains and plasmids used in this study	
Table 2. Primers used in this study	17
Table 3. ANOVA for Attributes ranking of the sourdough bread evaluation	44

### LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Proposed glutamine and glutamate metabolic pathway in <i>L. reuteri</i> 100-23	
	6
Figure 2. Confirmation of mutant by colony PCR and DNA sequencing	26
Figure 3. Survival of <i>L. reuteri</i> in pH 2.5 Phosphate Buffer	28
Figure 4. Survival of <i>L. reuteri</i> in pH 3.5 Phosphate Buffer	31
Figure 5. Cell counts and pH measurement of whole wheat sourdough	34
Figure 6. Concentration of glutamine, glutamate and GABA through sourdough fermentation	37
Figure 7. Concentration of glutamine, glutamate and GABA of sourdough bread	38
Figure 8. Demographic summary of the sensory evaluation	40
Figure 9. Differentiation of breads by Triangle test	41

### List of Symbols and Abbreviations

LAB: lactic acid bacteria gls1: gene coding for glutaminase Gls1 gls2: gene coding for glutaminase Gls2 gls3: gene coding for glutaminase Gls3 gadB: gene coding for glutamate decarboxylase GadB GLS: glutaminase GAD: glutamate decarboxylase  $\Delta$ : mutant Log: logarithmic CFU: colony-forming unit LB broth: Luria-Bertani broth MRS broth: deMan-Rogosa- Sharpe broth Erm: Erythromycin BABA: β-aminobutyric acid EA: ethanolamine GABA: γ-aminobutyric acid  $\alpha$  –KG:  $\alpha$  -ketoglutarate PCR: polymerase chain reaction HPLC: high-performance liquid chromatography ANOVA: Analysis of variance

### **1** INTRODUCTION

#### 1.1 Use of sourdough in bread production

Sourdough is a mixture of wheat and/or rye flour, water and/or salt, fermented by lactic acid bacteria and yeasts from flour (Gobbetti & Gänzle, 2013). In general, the dominant organisms in sourdoughs are lactic acid bacteria and elevated numbers of the co-existing yeasts, which are the key factors to the acidifying and leavening ability (Vogel et al., 1999). Owing to the cooperative activity of lactic acid bacteria and yeasts, as well as the interactive effects among bread making processes and ingredients, sourdough is a complex biological system (Gobbetti, 1998).

Sourdough is used as an additive in bread production for proper dough volume (leavening), or for desired dough acidity, or for dough texture and bread flavor improvement, or for bread shelf life extension (Su et al., 2011).

Sourdough fermentation profoundly affects the formation and liberation of flavor compounds in bread making process: wheat bread crumb made with sourdough showed higher content of alcohols and acids (Hansen & Hansen, 1996); bread produced with lactic acid bacteria sourdough was rated higher in terms of flavor intensity compared to conventional bread (Thiele et al., 2002). In regards to bread texture, exopolysaccharides formed by sourdough lactic acid bacteria have positive effect on the ability of dough water absorption and therefore improves bread volume and staling rate (Arendt et al., 2007). Moreover, the formation of organic acids during sourdough fermentation act as natural preservatives and are beneficial to bread shelf-life; a case in point is the inhibition of rope spoilage in wheat sourdough bread produced with *Lactobacillus plantarum*VTTE-78076, or *Lactobacillus brevis* (Katina et al., 2002).

Sourdough fermentation can be categorized into two types (namely, type I, and II) based on the technology used, which dictates the ecology of the dough. Type I sourdough is mainly used for leavening to achieve desired dough volume, maintained by continuous back slopping of active microbiota, in which short fermentation time and low fermentation temperature are preferred (Brandt, 2006). Type II sourdough is used in the food industry as baking improvers and typically fermented at 35 to 40°C for extended fermentation time up to 96 hours (Brandt, 2007).

Due to the particular fermentation conditions of type I and type II sourdoughs, the prevailing *Lactobacillus* strains differs. Lactic acid bacteria with various phenotype and genotype that dominate the sourdough fermentation were isolated, resulting from the various propagation time of sourdoughs (Corsetti et al., 2003; De Vuyst et al., 2002).

Type I sourdough is dominated by *Lactobacillus sanfranciscensis*, as well as *Lactobacillus brevis*, *Lactobacillus plantarum*, and *Lactobacillus rossiae*. On the other hand, *Lactobacillus amylovorus*, *Lactobacillus fermentum*, *Lactobacillus pontis*, and *Lactobacillus reuteri* are common isolates from Type II sourdough (De Vuyst et al, 2009).

*L. reuteri*, an intestinal isolate and a stable member of sourdough (Su et al., 2012), prevails in Type II sourdough fermentations, characterized by the elevated fermentation temperatures with long incubation time (Vogel et al., 1999; De Vuyst et al., 2009). In addition, it has been established that the long fermentation time and high temperature (42°C) act as the selective pressure for *L. reuteri* (Meroth et al., 2003; Su et al., 2011). *L. reuteri* is well characterized in fermented food products as well as in rodents' intestinal tract. A study on the competitiveness of *L. reuteri* in sourdough revealed that the competitiveness of sourdough isolates was no less and even higher than the robustness of rodent intestinal isolates, while the selective pressure appears to be distinctive between the two habitats (Zheng et al., 2015b).

Modern bread production employs sourdough largely for the purpose of bread quality improvement, as well as additives replacement; therefore sourdough fermentation evolves to cater the functional requirements (Gänzle, 2014).

#### 1.2 Glutamine metabolism in sourdough fermentation and flavor impact

Type II sourdough fermentation takes place at elevated fermentation temperature  $(35 - 45^{\circ}C)$  and/or with long fermentation time. This condition results in proteolysis, which provides the substrates for microbial growth during fermentation and the resulting peptides and amino acids contribute substantially to the flavour of sourdough bread (Vermeulen et al., 2007).

Glutamine is the most abundant amino acid of wheat proteins and proteolysis of wheat proteins liberates high levels of glutamine (Gänzle et al., 2007). Glutamine is converted to glutamate or  $\gamma$ -aminobutyrate (GABA) by *L. reuteri* and other sourdough lactobacilli. Glutamine shows extremely rapid cellular turnover rates and its metabolites have important functional influence on

human physiology as well; they are essential for the optimal growth of mammalian cells in culture (Darmaun et al., 1986). In addition, glutamine plays a crucial role in the biosynthesis of nucleotide, amino-sugar and protein, as well as the glutathione homeostasis, as a metabolic precursor (Neu et al. 1996); also it is a source of oxidative energy (Tapiero et al., 2002).

Wheat proteins are low in glutamic acid, a primary amino acid responsible of imparting a delicious taste in fermented foods (Rundlett & Armstrong, 1994). Glutamate is converted from glutamine by glutaminase activity; it is commonly used to enhance the savory flavors, which occurs naturally in proteinaceous foods such as meats and seafood, as well as fermented foods such as soy sauce, cheese and sourdough bread (Jinap at al., 2010; Siragusa et al., 2007; Zhao et al., 2015). Characterized glutamate taste, named umami ("savory taste"), is not shared by glutamine (Tapiero et al., 2002).

The threshold of sodium glutamate (1g/3000 mL) is much lower than that of sucrose (1g/200mL) or salt (1g/400mL), which provides the intense sensation of "umami" taste (Ikeda, 2002). Aside from providing the "umami" taste, glutamate enhances the perception of sweetness and saltiness and decreases the sensation of sourness and bitterness. It has been suggested the compensative relation between glutamate salt and NaCl could potentially be used for lowering sodium intake (Baryłko -Pikielna et al., 2007).

Glutamine deamination accumulates the umami-tasting glutamic acid, which makes it possible for salt reduced sourdough bread and study has showed that the decrease of NaCl did not compromise the taste or texture (Zhao et al., 2015); In addition, this conversion plays a significant role in inter-conversion of glutamate to  $\alpha$ -ketoglutarate, an integral component of the citric acid cycle and a crucial amino acceptor in the transamination reaction of amino acids (Tanous et al., 2005; Gänzle et al., 2007).

GABA has positive effects on human health (Mazzoli et al., 2010). It is the most widely distributed neurotransmitter in the vertebrate central nervous system that has potential antidepressant effect (Ko et al., 2013) as well as the potential of lowering blood pressure in mild hypertensive patients (Inoue et al. 2003). GABA is also crucial in mediating cholesterol level, with the potential of lowering risks of diabetes; it is a well-established inhibitory neurotransmitter, and its deficiency is associated with Huntington's chorea, Parkinson's disease,

cognitive impairment and Huntington's chorea (Shimada et al., 2009; Soltani et al., 2011). GABA, synthesized by lactic acid bacteria, was used for the production of functional fermented food. Known for their biosynthesis of GABA, *Lactobacillus plantarum* C48 and *Lactococcus lactis* strains were selected for the fermentation of GABA enriched sourdough bread; the functional sourdough bread exhibits higher concentration of free amino acids, GABA, phenolic compounds, elevated antioxidant activity and lower *in vitro* starch hydrolysis rate when compared to conventional yeast fermented bread (Coda et al., 2010). GABA-enriched cereal foods were also found such as rice germ soaked in water, germinated brown rice (Oh, 2003), and germinated wheat (Nagaoka, 2005) and red-mold rice containing *Monascus* fungus (Rhyu et al., 2000).

#### 1.3 Glutaminase and glutamate decarboxylase in Lactobacillus reuteri

Glutaminase (glutamine amidohydrolase EC 3.5.1.2) catalyzes the hydrolysis of glutamine to glutamic acid and ammonia. It is a key enzyme to the formation of the savoury "umami" flavour of fermented food.

Glutaminases have diversified microbial sources, well distributed among prokaryotes and eukaryotes including bacteria, yeast and fungi, with various fermentation conditions (Nandakumar et al., 2003). The variation of environments determines that glutaminases have a wide range of optimal pH, temperature and metabolic specificity (Woraharn et al., 2014).

Despite the fact that glutaminase activity and applications were explored extensively (Nandakumar et al., 2003), the genetic determinants in *Lactobacillus* spp for glutamine metabolism were not clear and not fully understood (Teixeira et al., 2014). Glutaminase activity from crude cellular extracts of *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* was characterized on biochemical level (Weingand-Ziadé et al., 2003). *Lactobacillus sanfranciscensis* and *L. reuteri*, as well as *Lactococcus lactis* subsp. *cremoris* B78, *Lactobacillus paracasei* subsp. *paracasei* converted glutamine to glutamate, confirming the glutaminase activity (Vermeulen et al., 2007).

The deamination ability of glutaminase, as a flavour enhancer, draws attention in the food industry. Fermentation organisms with glutaminase activity are widely used in food products. For example, glutamic acid is the main contributor to the unique flavor of fermented Japanese soy sauce (concentrations of  $100.6 \sim 104.0 \text{ mmol/L}$ ) (Kaneko et al., 2011). Not only does the

activity of glutaminase contribute to soy sauce fermentation (Nandakumar et al., 2003), it also provides the savory taste of "sufu" — a fermented Chinese soybean curd (Han et al., 2001). The free glutamate level ranges from 0.21 to 1.2 g/100g of a variety of cheeses, contributing simultaneously to the flavour of cheeses (Giacometti, 1979). In addition, the taste active glutamate enhances the flavour of sourdough bread fermented with *L. reuteri* (Zhao et al., 2015).

Glutamic acid decarboxylase (GAD, EC 4.4.1.15) is an enzyme that decarboxylate glutamic acid and produces  $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acid (GABA), using pyridoxal as cofactor (Krnjević, 1974). GAD is widely distributed and has been confirmed to be present in many lactic acid bacteria, as well as in mammalian brain, *E. coli* and *Aspergillus* (Komatsuzaki et al., 2008). Characterization of GAD in lactobacilli such as *Lactobacillus brevis* and *Lactobacillus paracasei* has been described (Park & Oh, 2006; Komatsuzaki et al., 2008). Bacteria strains that exhibit GAD activity are varied in their ability to produce GABA and optimum parameters, such as temperature and pH. The optimal pH range for GAD is 4.2-4.7 and the gene is only expressed under acidic condition (Hiraga et al., 2008; Kim et al., 2007).

In general, lactobacilli exhibit glutaminase and glutamate decarboxylase activity in a strainspecific manner; therefore, not all lactic acid bacteria strains have the ability to convert glutamine to glutamate and then generate GABA.

Functional genes screening through the database of IMG (Integrated Microbial Genomes) shows that, *gls*1, *gls*2, *gls*3, three genes that code for three glutaminses are identified in *L. reuteri* 100-23 (Teixeira et al., 2014). Alignment of protein sequences for the three glutaminases in *L. reuteri* 100-23, Gls1, Gls2, and Gls3, showed 44%-66% homology; while alignment of protein sequences of the three glutaminases in *L. reuteri* 100-23 showed 28% - 38% of homology when compared with the glutaminases YbaS and YneH in *E. coli* W3110 and YbgJ and YlaM in *Bacillus subtilis* ATCC 23857D-5 (Brown et al., 2008; Teixeira et al., 2014).

Two *L. reuteri* strains are readily available in this project: *L.reuteri* 100-23 wildtype strain that contains both GLS and GAD enzyme activities; and *L. reuteri*  $\Delta gadB$  generated by Su et al (2011), which is an isogenic mutant of the *L.reuteri* 100-23 that has the encoding genes for glutamate decarboxylase removed.



Figure 1. Proposed glutamine and glutamate metabolic pathway in *L. reuteri* 100-23 (Based on Gänzle et al., 2007; Tanous et al., 2005)

#### 1.4 General mechanism of acid stress to Lactobacillus reuteri

*Lactobacillus reuteri* is a rodent isolate that is acid tolerant owing to the adaptation to the gastric acid and forestomach environment, therefore pH homeostasis is crucial for cell. When the cells encounter a rapid shift of the extracellular pH, the intracellular pH changes accordingly to keep the pH gradient fluctuation as minimal as possible (Cook & Russell, 1994; Siegumfeldt et al., 2000). Comparison between lactic acid bacteria strains with varied acid-tolerant abilities showed that intracellular pH regulation is in accordance with acid tolerance, among which the intracellular pH of *Lactobacillus delbrueckii* subsp. *bulgaricus* dropped faster than that of

*Streptococcus thermophiles* when extracellular pH had a sudden decrease (Siegumfeldt et al., 2000). Proteins that were identified in *Lactobacillus reuteri* indicated that the reaction to acid stress are related to multiple divisions, including energy metabolism, coenzyme metabolism, amino acid transportation / metabolism and etc. (Lee et al., 2008).

From the energy conservation point of view, maintaining a steady pH gradient over translocating proton is preferred by anaerobic lactobacilli spp. (Kobayashi et al., 1986). When encounters a sudden acid stress, gene screening demonstrated that 83 genes showed changes in terms of expression in *Lactobacillus reuteri* ATCC 55730, particularly the ATPase encoding genes (Wall et al., 2007).

#### 1.5 Amino acid based mechanisms of acid resistance

The pH in Type I and II sourdoughs ranges from 3.5 to 4.3 in wheat sourdough (Thiele et al, 2002; Stromeck et al, 2011). Therefore, *L. reuteri* in type II sourdough could be exposed to a pH of 3.5-4.3 for several days (Vogel et al., 1999). The accumulating lactic acid, acetic acid and other organic acid pose great pressure on survival under acidic conditions.

Acid resistance in bacteria is a complex mechanism that is associated with physiological adaptation and metabolic pathways. Urease catalyzed urea hyrolysis in rodent isolate *L. reuteri* 100-23 is associated with acid tolerance (Wilson et al., 2014) but urea is irrelevant in sourdough fermentation (Zheng et al., 2015a).

#### 1.5.1 Amino acid decarboxylases

Among the several acid resistance systems proposed, one of them involves the conversion of glutamate to GABA by glutamate decarboxylase. The glutamate decarboxylase (GAD) activity has been explored and suggested to play a crucial part of acid resistance in both Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria.

The expression of GAD (glutamate decarboxylase) is essential to *Listeria monocytogenes* for the survival in gastric fluid (Cotter et al, 2001). In *E. coli*, an amino acid antiporter GadC, which exchanges extra-cellular L-glutamate with intracellular  $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acid, and the glutamate decarboxylases GadA and GadB that catalyze the reaction of glutamate to GABA, helps the pathogen to cope with acid stress (Foster, 2004; Lu et al., 2013). Nonetheless, the GAD– GABA

antiporter system contributed profoundly to the acid resistance of *Lactobacillus brevis* NCL912, a high GABA-producing strain isolated from fermented vegetables (Huang et al., 2012); Besides, *Lactococcus lactis* subsp. lactis has been confirmed to harbor one GAD gene and it is associated with acid resistance (Nomura et al., 1999); Moreover, in *L. reuteri*, it has been demonstrated that GAD activity contributes to acid resistance and enhances the fitness in sourdough fermentations (Su et al., 2011).

Decarboxylation is the reaction that releases carbon dioxide from the substrate. Aside from GAD, amino acid decarboxylases also play a crucial role in pH homeostasis and acid resistance of *Lactobacillus* spp.

One example is histidine decarboxylase (Hdc), which catalyzes the conversion of histidine to histamine. It has been established that *Lactobacillus buchneri* ST2A maintains intracellular pH involving the histidine decarboxylase and an antiport mechanism that exchanges histidine and histamine (Molenaar et al., 1993). In addition, some lactobacilli strains exhibit tyrosine decarboxylase (TyrDC) activity that produces tyramine (Zheng et al., 2015a). The acid resistance mechanism of *Lactobacillus brevis* was associated with tyrosine decarboxylation operon (Lucas et al., 2007). Last but not least, ornithine decarboxylase (ODC), which catalyzes the formation of putrescine, appears to be the most frequent decarboxylase among the *Lactobacillus* spp. screened (Zheng et al., 2015a). *Lactobacillus saerimneri* 30a, a horse stomach isolate, showed distinctive system that contains lysine/ ornithine decarboxylases with a lysine/cadaverine and ornithine/putrescine transporter (Romano et al., 2013). Furthermore, the acid resistance was enhanced by ODC in three lactic acid bacteria strains, including *Lactobacillus brevis*, *Oenococcus oeni* and *Lactobacillus saerimneri* (Romano et al., 2014).

#### 1.5.2 Amino acid deiminases

Another acid resistance system is linked to arginine metabolism. In lactic acid bacteria, it is achieved through the arginine deiminase (ADI) pathway, in which the acidic pressure is relieved by intracellular consumption of protons and the production of ATP (Konings, 2002). One mole of arginine converting to ornithine produces 1 mole of ATP and 2 moles of ammonia, with the consumption of 2 moles of protons as shown in *Lactobacillus sakei* and *Lactococcus lactis* MG1363 (Champomier-Verges et al, 1999; Budin-Verneuil et al, 2006). For *Streptococcus rattus* 

FA-1 and *Streptococcus mutans* UA159, agmatine deiminase system (AgDI), an analog of the arginine deiminase system provides the competitive fitness through the production of ATP and ammonia to increase the pH (Griswold et al., 2009). In *Lactobacillus brevis*, a functional agmatine deiminase with high specificity was identified; acid resistance is attributed to a genomic region that are comprised of the agmatine deiminase and tyrosine catabolic pathways (Lucas et al., 2007). What is more, during sourdough fermentation, arginine is released by cereal proteinase and converted by ADI to citrulline, and further converted to ornithine by ornithine transcarbamoylase (OTC) and carbamate kinase (CK) (Rollan et al, 2003; Thiele et al. 2002).

#### 1.5.3 Glutaminase and acid stress

As mentioned before, glutamine is converted to glutamate by glutaminase and produces ammonia at the same time. When the cells encounter acid stress, intracellular pH is increased resulting from the proton- neutralizing free ammonia (Lu et al., 2013).

The glutaminase enzyme activity in *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* is characterized in crude cellular extracts, suggesting a high salt and thermal-tolerant glutaminase (Weingand- Ziadé et al. 2003). Brown and others has identified and characterized the glutaminases YbaS and YneH from *Escherichia coli* and YlaM and YbgJ from *Bacillus subtilis*, and indicates that *E. coli* glutaminases are responsible for extracellular glutamine metabolism and also associated with acid defense (Brown et al., 2008). Furthermore, Lu and his team identified a novel acid resistance system that is composed of the glutaminase YbaS and the amino acid antiporter GadC in *E. coli* and it is active when sufficient glutamine available in acidic environment (under pH 6.0) (Lu et al., 2013).

*L. reuteri* is a rodent isolate that colonizes the forestomach, but it is also found throughout the digestive tract, including the cecum, in which the pH values are closer to neutral. For rodent-derived strain *L. reuteri* 100-23, genes contributing to colonization the forestomach of mice and adaptations of gastric acidic environment were determined, among which the GAD was supplementary and the urease cluster was the main defense factor in coping with acid stress (Krumbeck et al., 2015). Another study screened the adaptation by comparative genomics of 16 strains of *L. reuteri* and results indicated that the competitiveness of sourdough isolates was higher than the rodent intestinal isolates (Zheng et al., 2015b).

Glutaminase activity is strain specific in lactic acid bacteria. In *L. reuteri* 100-23, there are *gls*1, *gls*2, and *gls*3 that code for the three functional glutaminases. It is reported that glutamine has protective effect on *L. reuteri* survival at pH 2.5, based on the experiment established with *L. reuteri* 100-23 (Teixeira et al., 2014). However, the function of glutaminase in acid-tolerant *Lactobaillus* remains unclear.

With the comparison of the triple-knockdown glutaminase mutant and the wild type *L. reuteri* 100-23, it is possible to find out whether glutamine conversion to glutamate by glutaminase activity improves the survival of *L. reuteri* in acidic conditions independent of other amino acids conversion.

#### **1.6 Research objectives**

*L. reuteri* 100-23, a rodent fore-stomach isolate (Wesney & Tannock, 1979), also dominates in type II sourdough. With the ability to produce glutamate or/and GABA from glutamine, *L.reuteri* plays a significant role in sourdough fermentation in terms of flavour impact, as well as the formation of a principle neurotransmitter-GABA. Glutamate decarboxylase is well characterized in *L. reuteri* 100-23, and the enzyme improves the cell survival under acid pressure and enhances the fitness of *L. reuteri* in sourdough fermentation (Su et al., 2011).

Glutaminase is known to produce the "umami" flavor compound, glutamic acid; however, its function in terms of acid resistance in lactobacilli has not been fully investigated and established, and comprehensive understanding of the glutaminase activity of lactobacilli to glutamine metabolism in sourdough fermentation is lacking.

In particular, *L.reuteri* 100-23, a strain possesses three functional glutaminases. This study employed *L. reuteri* 100-23 and a derivative strain with a truncated glutamate decarboxylase (*L. reuteri* 100-23 $\Delta$ gadB). To determine the role of glutaminase activity in acid resistance and influence on sourdough bread flavour, the three glutaminases of *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta$ gls1-2-3.

The hypothesis is that with the disruption of glutaminase activity, the fitness of *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gls$ 1-2-3 under acid stress will be impaired; and there will be no accumulation of the glutamate in fermentation that leaves an impact on the taste of sourdough bread produced with *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gls$ 1-2-3.

This master project is designed to investigate the role of glutaminase activity in *L. reuteri* 100-23 throughout sourdough fermentation, to understand whether or not the glutamine conversion to glutamate by glutaminase activity improves the survival of *L. reuteri* in acidic conditions independent of other amino acids conversion.

The objectives of this study are as follows:

1. Construction of a triple-deletion L. reuteri 100-23 mutant by a double crossover method;

2. Assess the contribution of glutaminase in *L. reuteri* to acid resistance in buffer and to growth in sourdough.

3. Quantification of the *L. reuteri* glutaminase-relevant metabolites during sourdough fermentation by HPLC;

4. Determine the influence of glutamine metabolism on bread taste, by conducting consumer sensory evaluation of sourdough bread produced with *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gad$ B, *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gls$ 1-2-3 and wild-type strain.

### **2** MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### 2.1 Strains, plasmids and culture conditions

All bacterial strains and plasmids used in this study are listed in Table 1; *L. reuteri* 100-23, *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gls1$ , *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gls2$  and *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gls3$  were grown anaerobically in modified MRS (mMRS) broth at 37°C overnight. These mutants and corresponding plasmids were generated by Marcia Su (2011) and were initially assessed by Chonggong Zhang; phenotype was not observed due to the three glutaminases in *L. reuteri* 100-23 and they were not used in publications. Each liter of mMRS broth contained 10 g tryptone, 10 g maltose, 5 g glucose, 5 g fructose, 5 g beef extract, 5 g yeast extract, 4.0 g potassium phosphate dibasic, 2.6 g potassium phosphate monobasic, 2 g tri-ammonium citrate, 0.5 g L-cysteine, 0.2 g magnesium sulfate, 0.05 g manganese sulfate, 1 g Tween 80, and 1 mL of a vitamin mixture containing 0.2 g each of vitamins B1, B2, B6, and B12, folic acid, and pantothenic acid.

Plasmid host *E. coli* JM 109 pJRS pKO-*gls*1-AB, pKO-*gls*2-AB, and pKO-*gls*3-AB were grown aerobically in Luria-Bertani (LB) with 500  $\mu$ g/mL of erythromycin. Erythromycin (500 mg/L) was added to LB for selecting antibiotic-resistant *E. coli*. Each liter of LB contained 10 g tryptone, 5 g yeast extract, and 10 g NaCl in deionized water.

#### 2.2 Construction of L. reuteri 100-23 mutants

To understand and determine the contribution of glutaminase activity to acid resistance and the following impact on sourdough fermentation, a deletion mutant of *L. reuteri* was necessary for the comparison with the wild type strain.

Functional genes screening through the database of IMG (Integrated Microbial Genomes) showed three genes, *gls*1, *gls*2, *gls*3, are identified in *L. reuteri* 100-23 that code for glutaminses (Teixeira et al., 2014). To achieve the desired mutant that does not have the ability of converting glutamine to glutamate, the three coding genes need to be disrupted. Therefore, a three-time deletion mutant *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gls$ 1-2-3 construction is explained in detail in the following.

The three putative glutaminase (*gls*) genes in *L. reuteri* 100-23 were truncated using the doublecrossover method. The plasmids and primers used are listed in Tables 1 and 2. Gene deletions in all mutant strains were verified by sequencing (MacrogenUSA, Rockville, MD).

#### 2.2.1 Overview of mutants generation: Mechanism of Double Cross-over Mutagenesis

Shuttle vector pJRS233, constructed to incorporate the disrupted target gene region, was introduced into the electro-competent wild-type strain by electroporation.

The transformants were grown on agar plate with antibiotic selection under permissive temperature (37°C) first; then colonies were picked and incubated in broth with antibiotic pressure at 37°C overnight; integration of the plasmid into the wide-type chromosome was achieved by incubating cells at the non-permissive temperature under antibiotic selection. Therefore, subculture was transferred into broth with antibiotic under non-permissive temperature (42°C) for 30~40 generations, to select the first cross-over product: plasmid-wildtype integrates. Colony PCR was applied to check the transformation and to confirm the integrates. Under UV light after electrophoresis, the integrates would have two bands (long-wildtype and short-truncated gene) on the agarose gel.

Then integrates were then incubated in broth without antibiotic under permissive temperature (37°C) again, for about ~100 generations (~10times, every 12 hours). Cell culture was patch plated onto agar plates with and without antibiotic; colonies that only grow on plate without antibiotic were picked; colony PCR was performed to select the deletion mutant. PCR products from mutant strains would yield a short band (low amplicon-truncated gene) on the agarose gel.

#### 2.2.2 L. reuteri 100-23 mutants generation

#### *L. reuteri* 100-23 Δgls2-3

Plasmid DNA isolation was performed with GeneJET plasmid Miniprep kit (Thermo scientific), with 1.5mL overnight cell culture in LB broth with 500  $\mu$ g/mL erythromycin. 1 ng ~ 3  $\mu$ g of purified plasmid DNA in 5  $\mu$ l of ddH<sub>2</sub>O was gently mixed with 100  $\mu$ l of competent cells, on ice. Electro-competent lactic acid bacteria cells were prepared with sucrose-glycerol solution and described below.

Frozen stock of *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gls2$  culture was streaked on mMRS plate and anaerobically incubated at 37°C for 48 hours; a single colony was picked and transferred into 7mL of mMRS broth, grown at 37°C overnight. Cell culture were inoculated into pre-warmed (37°C) mMRS broth to obtain 40mL cell culture with the initial OD<sub>600</sub>  $\cong$  0.1, followed by incubation at 37°C for about 3~5 hours to achieve an optimal OD<sub>600</sub>  $\cong$  0.55~0.65; then cultures were chilled on ice for 10 minutes to slow down the cell activity. All the following steps were handled on ice with caution, which means mixing does not involve vortex but gentle pipetting. Cells were harvested by centrifugation at 4°C for 5 minutes, washed gently in 20mL chilled ddH<sub>2</sub>O twice and centrifuged 4°C, for 5 minutes each time; cells then were washed gently with 20mL chilled 0.5M sucrose with 10% V/V glycerol solution and harvested by centrifugation at 4°C, for 5minutes. Last, harvested cell pellets were re-suspended in ~350 µL of the chilled sucrose-glycerol solution and aliquots of 100 µL electro-competent cells were used for electroporation.

Then the mixture was transferred into to a pre-chilled (0°C) cuvette (0.2 cm gap) and pJRS pKO-gls3-AB DNA was integrated into the competent *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gls2$  cells at 2.5 kV (12.5 kV/cm), 25  $\mu$ F capacitance, and 400  $\Omega$  resistance. 1 mL of pre-warmed (37°C) mMRS medium was added to the cuvette immediately and the electroporated cells were incubated at 37°C about 2.5 - 3hours, for expression of the antibiotic resistance genes.

The vector pJRS233 carries a temperature-sensitive replication origin pSC101 and an erythromycin-resistance gene, and the increase of growth temperature and the addition of erythromycin promote the integration of pKO-*gls*3-AB into the chromosome of erythromycin-sensitive *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gls2$  by homologous recombination (Su, 2011).

Then 100 µl undiluted electroporated culture was plated on mMRS+10 µg/mL erythromycin agar plate, incubated at 37°C anaerobically for ~48 hours. Colonies were picked and grown in mMRS broth +10 µg/mL erythromycin at 37°C initially and then 42°C for 30-40 generations. The later selection procedure was indicated above in the mechanism part: ~100 generations subculture in mMRS broth and patch-plating selection. Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) amplifications for screening purposes were performed with Taq DNA Polymerase (Invitrogen, Burlington, Canada).

Both cross-over products were confirmed by colony PCR with the primer gls3-F and gls3-R; and the gene deletion of *gls*3 in *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gls2$ -3 was verified by DNA sequencing (MacrogenUSA, Rockville, MD).

#### L. reuteri 100-23 Δgls1-2-3

The gene coding for *gls*1 in *L. reuteri* 100-23 was also truncated according to the deletion strategy described earlier, by introducing pJRS pKO-*gls*1-AB into *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gls$ 2-3. Again, both cross-over products were confirmed by colony PCR with the primer gls1-F and gls1-R; and the gene deletion of *gls1* in *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gls$ 1-2-3 was verified by DNA sequencing (MacrogenUSA, Rockville, MD).

Strain or Plasmid	Description	Source
Strains	-	
Lactobacillus reuteri	Rodent isolate; wild type strain	Wesney et al., 1979
100-23		1979
Escherichia coli JM109	Cloning host for pGEMTeasy- and pJRS233- derivative plasmids	Su et al., unpublished
L. reuteri 100-23 Δgls1 (UA 3395)	Wild-type strain isogenic mutant with <i>gls</i> 1 deletion	Su et al., unpublished
L. reuteri 100-23 Δgls2 (UA 3396)	Wild-type strain isogenic mutant with gls2 deletion	Su et al., unpublished
L. reuteri 100-23 Δgls3 (UA 3397)	Wild-type strain isogenic mutant with <i>gls3</i> deletion	Su et al., unpublished
L. reuteri 100-23 ∆gadB	Wild-type strain derivative with a deletion in <i>gad</i> B	Su et al., unpublished
<i>L. reuteri</i> 100-23 Δgls2-3	Wild-type strain isogenic mutant with <i>gls</i> 2 and <i>gls</i> 3 deletions	This study
<i>L. reuteri</i> 100-23 ⊿gls1-2-3	Wild-type strain isogenic mutant with <i>gls</i> 1, <i>gls</i> 2 and <i>gls</i> 3 deletions	This study
Plasmids		
<i>E. coli</i> JM 109	Plasmid for the disruption of 2500069653 (or	Su et al.,
pJRS pKO-gls1-AB	gls1) in L. reuteri 100-23	unpublished
<i>E. coli</i> JM 109	Plasmid for the disruption of 2500070771 (or	Su et al.,
pJRS pKO-gls2-AB	gls2) in L. reuteri 100-23	unpublished
<i>E. coli</i> JM 109 pJRS pKO-gls3-AB	Plasmid for the disruption of 2500071323 (or <i>gls3</i> ) in <i>L. reuteri</i> 100-23	Su et al., unpublished

# TABLE 1. Strains and Plasmids Used in this study

# TABLE 2. Primers used to generate derivatives of L. reuteri 100-23

Primer Name	Sequence 5' to 3'	Reference
gls1-F	GCCAAATATCTGCTGATCG	gls1
gls1-R	AACAGCGTTTGTTCCAA	> In NCBI GenBank database, it is
gls1-out-F	GCAGTTGAAGAGCAAGTC	coded by AAPZ02000001.1:333174334094
gls1-out-R	AGCAGCCTCGCTTGA	Version: AAPZ02000001.1
		GI:194453319
gls2-F	CCCGCTCTTATTTAGGAATGT	gls2
gls2-R	TACTATCCATATCGGTTGGGC	> In NCBI GenBank database, it is
gls2-out-F	TGCAAAGGTCGTTGCCTTAAT	coded by
gls2-out-R	GTCACCATCATTGAGCTTTGC	AAPZ02000001.1:14557781456692 Version: AAPZ02000001.1
		GI:194453319
gls3-F	CCTTTATCAACCATCAGCT	gls3
gls3-R	AGCTGGTGTGCTACTTT	> In NCBI GenBank database, it is
gls3-out-F	AGGTTGCTACTTCAGTAGGAA	coded by AAPZ02000002.1:548219549139
gls3-out-R	ATGTAACGAAACATGTTGGAG	Version: AAPZ0200001.1
		GI:194453319
HRM-LAB-F	TCC TAC GGG AGG CAG CAG T	
		Lin & Gänzle, 2014
HRM-LAB-R	GGA CTA CCA GGG TAT CTA	
	ATC CTG TT	

## by double-crossover mutagenesis

#### 2.3 Assessment of acid resistance at pH 2.5 and pH 3.5

Frozen stock culture of *L. reuteri* 100-23, *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gls1$ -2-3 and *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gad$ B were steaked onto mMRS agar plates and single colony of each strain was inoculated into mMRS broth and incubated at 37°C overnight. Cells were grown in mMRS medium at 37°C from a 1% inoculum and growth was monitored by measuring the optical density (OD) at 600 nm. They were grown to the early stationary phase of growth (14~18 h) and harvested by centrifugation, washed with pH 7.0, 50mM Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub> buffer and then re-suspended in 200mM potassium phosphate buffer to an OD<sub>600nm</sub> of 1.0, with or without additional glutamate or glutamine at various pH level, adjusted with HCl.

To determine the contribution of amino acid metabolism by glutaminase activity in *L. reuteri* to acid resistance, a pH of 2.5 adjusted with HCl was chosen to match the gastric fluid environment and a pH of 3.5 was selected to mimic the sourdough fermentation condition.

Controls were performed in 200mM potassium phosphate buffer (pH 2.5 and 3.5); parallel experiments were conducted in 200mM potassium phosphate buffer (pH 2.5 and 3.5), supplemented with 20 mM glutamine or glutamate (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO). The pH was readjusted with HCl to pH 2.5 or 3.5 after the addition of amino acids and buffer was filtered before the resuspension of cells.

OD<sub>600nm</sub> of the above three *L. reuteri* strains in acidic buffer were monitored and the level of supplemented glutamate or glutamine was measured by HPLC.

Buffer with a pH of 2.5 treatment was incubated at 37 °C for 10 hours and pH 3.5 treatment was analyzed for 24 hours, based on previous experiments parameters (Su et al., 2011; Teixeira et al., 2014). To observe the survival of the bacteria, samples were taken for viable-cell counts at intervals, as well as for the quantification of amino acids. Samples were immediately mixed with phosphate-buffer saline (PBS, 137 mM NaCl, 2mM KCl, 10 mM Na2HPO4, and 2 mM KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>, pH 8.0) and proper dilutions in PBS buffer of each sample were plated onto mMRS agar. Plates were incubated at 37°C for 48 h anaerobically.

*L. reuteri* 100-23, *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gls1$ -2-3 and *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gad$ B were also incubated at pH 6.2 in 200 mM potassium phosphate buffers, with or without additional 10mM glutamate

or glutamine at 37 °C for 24 hours. Supernatant of the buffer after 24-hour incubation were stored at -20°C and used for HPLC analysis later.

#### 2.4 Sourdough fermentations and sampling

Sourdough fermentations were performed with of *L. reuteri* 100-23, *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gls$ 2-3, *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gls$ 1-2-3 and *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gad$ B respectively, to examine the effect of glutaminase activity on growth, pH, organic acid, and amino acid accumulations.

#### 2.4.1 Sourdough fermentation

*L. reuteri* 100-23, 100-23  $\Delta gad$ B, 100-23  $\Delta gls$ 2-3, 100-23  $\Delta gls$ 1-2-3 were cultured at 37°C in mMRS broth. Cells were harvested from 10mL overnight culture by centrifugation at 4°C, for 5 minutes; washed with 10mL autoclaved tap water, and then re-suspended in 10mL autoclaved tap water.

Sourdoughs were prepared in a 50 mL screw-cap tube by mixing 10 mL of washed cell culture and 10 g of whole-wheat flour thoroughly (Rogers foods LTD., Armstrong, BC, Canada). Chemically acidified doughs were used as control, for which 10 g of whole-wheat flour were mixed with 10mL autoclaved tap water and acidified to a pH of ~4.0 (~30 $\mu$ L of acetic acid (100%w/w) and ~120 $\mu$ L lactic acid (85% w/v) ) and incubated under the same conditions as the sourdoughs.

Sourdough samples were collected at 0, 24, 48, 72, and 96 h of fermentation, for cell count, pH measurement and HPLC analysis of organic acids and amino acids. The pH and the cell counts were analyzed immediately after sampling; HPLC samples were stored at -20°C and analyzed later.

#### 2.4.2 Determination of pH and cell counts

For determination of the pH, 1 g of sourdough samples were mixed with 9mL of deionized water and the pH was measured with a glass electrode (Thermo electron corporation, Orion 4 star). Triplicate independent samples were taken at time 0, 24, 48, 72 and 96 hours of each treatment.

The 1 g of sourdough was diluted into 9mL of sterile peptone and 1% salt solution, then serial 10-fold dilutions were performed and samples were plated on mMRS agar plates for Cell counts.

Colony morphology was observed to verify the identity of the inoculum with the fermentation microflora.

#### 2.5 Quantification of amino acids by HPLC

Cells from phosphate buffer were removed by centrifugation. The supernatant (1 vol) was mixed with deionized water (4 vol), saturated potassium borate (4 vol) and 5ug/mL  $\beta$  -amino-butyric acid (BABA) (1 vol). Quantification of amino acids in sourdough samples were achieved by internal standard method for calibration. BABA was the internal standard (IS) used and ethanolamine (EA) (5umol/mL - 0.2439g/100mL) as an additional internal standard for backup in the event of BABA contamination etc., although EA appears to be less stable.

Sourdough samples were lyophilized, extracted with distilled water at an extraction ratio of 1:10 (w/v) and diluted with water, potassium borate, and internal standard as described above.

Bread samples were freeze-dried, extracted with 1M HCl at the ratio of 1:10 (w/v) and diluted with water, potassium borate, and internal standard as described above.

Both buffer and sourdough samples were done in triplicate independent experiments and bread samples were collected in triplicate repeats. Amino acids were quantified after derivatization with o-phtaldialdehyde. Separation and quantification of amino acids is accomplished with an HPLC (high performance liquid chromatograph) and a Fluorichrom detector (excitation 340 nm emission 450 nm); Separations are achieved using a Supelcosil 3 micron LC-18 reverse phase column (4.6 x 150 mm; Supelco) equipped with a guard column (4.6 x 50 mm) packed with Supelco LC-18 reverse phase packing (20 - 40  $\mu$ m) (modified based on Sedgwick et al., 1991).

#### 2.6 Sourdough bread sensory evaluation

Research ethics approval was obtained by the University of Alberta Research Ethics Board, after reviewing this sensory study according to the ethical guidelines. The most abundant amino acid in wheat proteins is glutamine. Glutamine is converted to glutamate or  $\gamma$ -aminobutyrate by *Lactobacillus reuteri* and other sourdough lactobacilli. Sensory evaluation was designed to exam the impact of glutamine and glutamate metabolism on sourdough bread taste.

#### 2.6.1 Strains and media

*L. reuteri* 100-23, 100-23  $\Delta gad$ B, 100-23  $\Delta gls$ 1-2-3 were cultured at 37°C mMRS medium. 1% (v/v) of each strain liquid culture inoculum was added into 5% (w/v) food-grade malt solution respectively, using CBW Munich malt extract (Briess Malt and Ingredients, Cgilton, WI, U.S.A.)

Malt culture was incubated at 37°C in food-grade laboratory overnight for sourdough preparation.

#### 2.6.2 Sourdough fermentation

To determine the influence of glutamine metabolism on bread taste, sourdough was fermented with *L. reuteri* 100-23, 100-23  $\Delta gad$ B, or 100-23  $\Delta gls$ 1-2-3, and bread produced with these sourdoughs was evaluated in triangle tests with 41 untrained panelists.

Sourdough preparation and fermentation were conducted in a food-grade laboratory, in order to comply with the purpose of the sensory evaluation. 10g of whole wheat flour (Rogers foods LTD., Armstrong, BC, Canada) was mixed with 10mL of the overnight malt strain culture, incubated for 14~18 hours at 37°C. Sourdough was prepared by inoculating the 20g starter dough into 90g of whole wheat flour and 90mL of tap water to achieve a dough yield of 200, and incubated at 37°C with an initial cell count of  $1 \pm 0.5 \times 10^8$  CFU g-1. Doughs were fermented with *L. reuteri* 100-23, 100-23  $\Delta gad$ B, 100-23  $\Delta gls$ 1-2-3 separately, and samples were collected after 96 h of fermentation at 37°C. Sourdoughs were freeze-dried and flour was used for subsequent bread baking.

Cell counts and pH of the sourdough were monitored every 24 hours; organic acids, amino acids were measured by HPLC and HRM-qPCR was performed at 96 hours for quality control.

#### 2.6.3 Monitoring microbiota during sourdough fermentation

High resolution melting (HRM) analysis is a quick and reliable technique to verify variations in nucleic acid sequence. The basic principle of HRM is to monitor and detect the differences in melting curves during real-time PCR, together with DNA binding dyes (Thermo fisher scientific-HRM).

Together with cell morphology observation and organic acid analysis, HRM-PCR is the last checkpoint to make sure that the sourdough is fermented with the corresponding *L. reuteri* strain, rather than being out-compete or contaminated by other *Lactobacillus* spp.

Sourdough samples, scraped from the container after 96 hours of incubation, were thoroughly mixed with distilled water (1:10 w/v) by vortex. The mixture then was centrifuged for 3 min to remove the solids; and the supernatant was again centrifuged for 10 min and cells pellets were collected.

Cell DNA extraction was performed with the DNeasy Blood & Tissue Kit (Qiagen, USA). Universal primers, HRM-LAB listed in Table 2, were used for targeting the 16s rRNA genes. Type-it HRM PCR kit (Qiagen, USA) was used and the PCR (Rotor-Gene Q, Qiagen, USA) setup is as follows, 5 min at 95 °C for denaturation, followed by 45 cycles of denaturation at 95 °C for 10 s, annealing at 60 °C for 30 s and extension at 72 °C for 10 s. And the temperature went from 65 °C to 90 °C at 0.1 °C/step with 2s holding time at each step at the end (Lin & Gänzle, 2014). Each strain of bacteria has a unique melting temperature (MT) and MT for *L. reuteri* is 86.0°C~86.5°C.

#### 2.6.4 Bread baking and sensory evaluation

Bread dough was prepared with all-purpose wheat flour (Rogers foods LTD., Armstrong, BC, Canada) 6% freeze-dried sourdough flour, 2% sugar, 2% yeast, 60% water and 2% table salt (based on 100g of flour).

Baking is performed according to the standard procedure and the protocol is attached in the appendices, together with the sensory evaluation information and consent form and demographic questionnaire.

Ingredients were mixed in a spiral kneader (Kitchen Aid K45SS, Hobart Co. Troy, OH) for 5min, speed 2 for 2 min and speed 5 for 3 min. Dough was shaped after the dough resting of 60 min and proofed for 90 min at ~30°C, and 85% humidity in a baking proofer (Res-Cor, Crescent Metal Products Inc, Cleveland, OH, USA). Bread was baked in a multi-deck oven (Bakers Pride, Lachine, QC, Canada), set at a temperature of 210°C for 25 min.

Bread was held at room temperature for cooling after baking, and wrapped and sealed in polyethylene bags prior to sensory evaluation.

Research ethics approval was obtained by the Research Ethics Board at University of Alberta, after reviewing this sensory study according to the ethical guidelines. Bread samples were prepared by removal of the bread crust and then cutting into 2cm \* 2cm \* 3cm cubes. Bread cube was served in a plastic cup with lids, labeled with three-digit random code. All possible sample presentation orders of the three samples were randomly assigned to each panelist to avoid positional effect. Filtered water was provided for the panel to cleanse their palate before and inbetween tasting. 41 untrained panelists were recruited and successfully completed the sensory evaluation at University of Alberta AFNS. Tasting were conducted in a sensory laboratory with controlled white lighting, 22°C, 45% RH and positive pressure.

Two sets of the conventional triangle test (Lawless & Heymann, 2010) were performed to compare breads prepared with sourdough that was fermented with *L. reuteri* 100-23 or 100-23  $\Delta gadB$ ; as well as between *L. reuteri*100-23 and 100-23  $\Delta gls$ 1-2-3.

Attributes ranking of the three sourdough bread samples, employing the Friedman rank test (Lawless & Heymann, 2010), was conducted in terms of saltiness, sourness, overall taste and overall preference.

#### 2.7 Statistical analysis

Growth curves and survival at pH 2.5 and pH 3.5 were determined in triplicate biological independent experiments and results were expressed as mean value +/- standard deviation. Data analysis was achieved with Microsoft Excel for paired two sample-T test.

Fermentations of sourdoughs and chemically acidified controls were carried out in triplicate independent experiments, and results of pH and cell count are reported as the mean +/- standard deviation.

The amino acids integration of HPLC chromatogram was processed with the software Galaxy Chromatography. Results were reported as the mean +/- standard deviation.

Basic calculation formulas for the HPLC quantification of amino acids are shown as follow:

#### For Standards: RRF= (amount of standard/area of standard) \* (area of IS/ amount of IS)

### For Samples: Amount of sample= RRF \* area of sample \* amount of IS/ area of IS

For sensory evaluations, significant difference of the triangle test was determined by the minimum correct identification (P < 0.05) (Lawless & Heymann, 2010). Data of the attributes ranking was processed with Microsoft Excel, and ANOVA test was applied to determine whether or not significance difference was detected, in regards to specific attribute among the samples by the 41 untrained participants.
# **3 RESULTS**

#### 3.1 Confirmation of L. reuteri 100-23 mutants

*L. reuteri* 100-23 harbors three genes that code for glutaminase, *gls*1, *gls*2, *gls*3 (Teixeira et al., 2014). Therefore, deletion of the three glutaminases is necessary for the purpose of this study.

PCR was applied to confirm the deletion mutant of targeted *gls* region, using the primer sets gls1/2/3 in Table 2. In addition, another set of primers (gls1/2/3-out, Table 2) was designed to avoid false positives, to verify glutaminase coding region deletion in the mutants. These primers were selected from the internal *gls* frame and size of the amplicons were ~500 bp. Figure 1 lists four agarose gel images, illustrating the selection of *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gls$ 2-3 and *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gls$ 1-2-3 after colony PCR.

After subculture in mMRS broth without antibiotic pressure for about 100 generations, excision of the plasmid from the chromosome in the integrant strain via duplicated 100-23 sequence on one side of the deletion generated the desired deletion mutant; excision via duplicated sequence on the other side of the deletion regenerated the wild-type allele in the chromosome (Wild-type).

As shown on the agarose gel images in the Figure 1, deletion mutants were expected to have a short band at ~500 bp; while wild-type was expected to have a band of ~1.5kb, indicating the size of an intact *gls* region. In addition, deletion of *gls*3 in *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gls$ 2-3 and the gene deletion of *gls*1 in *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gls$ 1-2-3 were verified by DNA sequencing (MacrogenUSA, Rockville, MD).

500 bp Tm: 45.5℃	Neg. control	Mutant L. reuteri 100-23 Δgls2-3	Pos. Control L. reuteri ∆gls3	Primers: gls3-F gls3-R
500bp Tm: 45.5°C	Neg. control	Mutant L. reuteri 100-23 ∆gls2-3	Pos. Control L. reuteri 100-23	Primers: gls3-out-F gls3-out-R
				Primers:
500 bp	Neg. control	Mutant	Pos. Control	gls1-F
Tm: 51°C		L. reuteri 100-23	L. reuteri $\Delta gls1$	gls1-R
		∆gls1-2-3		
1.5 kb			-	Primers:
Tm: 51°C	Neg. control	Mutant	Pos. Control	gls1-F
		L. reuteri 100-23	L. reuteri 100-23	gls1-R
		∆gls1-2-3		

# Figure 2. Confirmation of mutant by colony PCR and DNA sequencing

The PCR products of selected mutants were purified and verified by colony PCR and DNA sequencing (MacrogenUSA, Rockville, MD). *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gls$ 2-3 and *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gls$ 2-3 deletion region sequencing results are attached in appendices.

# 3.2 Assessment of acid resistance

Acid resistance of the wild type and the mutants were tested in buffer at pH 2.5 and 3.5, to mimic the acidic environment of the stomach (pH 2.5) and fore-stomach or sourdough fermentation (pH 3.5).

#### 3.2.1 Survival at pH 2.5

Survival of *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gad$ B, *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gls$ 1-2-3 and wild-type strain under acid stress in 200mM potassium phosphate buffer were measured. As shown in Figure 2, glutamine addition enhanced the survival of *L. reuteri* 100-23 at pH 2.5 when compared to the control that has no amino acid supplementation, but not in a significant manner. Both experiments, the control and glutamine added, had ~2.5 log reduction after 10 hours incubation in pH= 2.5 phosphate buffer.

For *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gad$ B, without the function of glutamate decarboxylase that metabolize glutamate, glutamate supplement did not improve the survival at pH 2.5 in buffer. After 10 hours of incubation at 37°C, both the control and glutamate treatment groups had a viable cell reduction of ~3.5 log. In contrast, additional glutamine in the buffer at pH=2.5 improved the survival of *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gad$ B, resulting in a ~2.5 log cell reduction; besides, there is a significant difference in terms of survival between the control and the glutamine supplementation group. This observation correlates with the previous work that examines the glutamine-based acid resistance effect (Teixeira et al., 2014), in which glutamine was protective for *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gad$ B against acid stress at pH 2.5 in phosphate buffer.

*L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gls$ 1-2-3 did not benefit from the glutamine supplementation in pH 2.5 buffers. With the deletion of all three functional glutaminses, the data in figure 2 indicated that glutamine metabolism was disrupted when compared to that in the wild type strain. However, both *L. reuteri* 100-23 and *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gls$ 1-2-3 demonstrated that glutamate addition was the least favorable to acid resistance in pH=2.5 phosphate buffer.



**Figure 3.** Survival of *L. reuteri* in pH 2.5 Phosphate Buffer. Survival of *L. reuteri* 100-23 (WT), *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\triangle$  gadB (gadB) and *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\triangle$  gls1-2-3 (gls) in 200mm pH= 2.5 phosphate buffer ( $\bullet$ ), in phosphate buffer with 20 mM glutamate ( $\bigcirc$ ), or in phosphate buffer with 20 mM glutamate ( $\bigcirc$ ), or in phosphate as log CFU/ mL (N/N0). Data are mean values of three independent experiments +/- standard deviations. \* means that the two-paired T-test between the control and the treatment showed significant difference (P<0.05).

Therefore, it was necessary to measure the amino acid content in the buffer throughout the assessment to better understand the role of glutamine/glutamate metabolism to acid resistance.

HPLC analysis of the two amino acids supplemented samples at pH 2.5 phosphate buffer was quantified. Amino acid profiles supported that *L. reuteri* 100-23 but not *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gad$ B metabolizes glutamate. At t=10h, glutamate concentration dropped from 20.4 ± 1.8 mM to 15.8 ± 2.7 mM in the wild-type pH 2.5 buffer supernatant; while it remained the same for *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gad$ B sample. As for *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gls$ 1-2-3, glutamate accumulation was not observed, in which glutamate concentration was 16.1 ± 1.6 mM at the start and 17.6 ± 1.0 mM after 10 hours of incubation under acid stress. This explains the adverse effect on survival of *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gls$ 1-2-3 with glutamate addition in figure 2.

Glutamine data analysis confirmed that the triple glutaminases knock-out mutant does not have the ability to mediate the glutamine added, considering that the glutamine level of the other two strains decreased  $3.1 \pm 0.6$  mM, whereas remained static for *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gls$ 1-2-3. Moreover, the decrease in glutamine concentration also resolves the protective effect of glutamine on survival of *L. reuteri* 100-23 and *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gad$ B at pH2.5.

## 3.2.2 Survival at pH 3.5

Survival of *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gad$ B, *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gls$ 1-2-3 and wild-type at pH 3.5 in 200 mM potassium phosphate buffers was also monitored. Instead of 10 hours observation time span, the incubation time was set to be 24 hours.

Addition of glutamine and glutamate both improved the survival of *L. reuteri* 100-23 at pH 3.5 by ~ 1.5-2 log, whereas the control group showed a reduction of ~ 4 logs after 24 hours of incubation. Moreover, there is a significant difference between the control and the glutamine or glutamate supplement group at t=24h; as a result, the wild-type benefits from the supplementation of both glutamine and glutamate at pH 3.5 buffer.

Similarly to pH 2.5 experiments, glutamate supplementation did not improve the survival of *L*. *reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gad$ B at pH 3.5, almost 4 log cell count decrease at t=24h; while the glutamine addition had a less than 2 log reduction after 24 hours in pH 3.5 phosphate buffer. The P value between the glutamine treatment and control is 0.07 (<0.1), which indicated the trend that glutamine exhibits protective effect on cell survival. Taken both pH 2.5 and 3.5 acid resistance assessment observations into consideration, it is established that glutamate decarboxylation contributes to acid resistance in *L. reuteri* (Su et al., 2011).

Figure 3, again, showed that glutamate addition was the least favorable in pH=3.5 phosphate buffer for *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gls$ 1-2-3. Among the three strains tested, *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gls$ 1-2-3 had a in reductions of ~1.5-3.0 log after 24 hours treatment. In particular, the glutamate supplemented group had a reduction of ~3.0 log in terms of viable cell count.

HPLC quantification of glutamine and glutamate content of pH 3.5 buffer supernatant showed that the concentration of supplemented glutamine or glutamate decreased over the 24-hour incubation in all three strains tested; it is noticeable that *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gls$ 1-2-3 was less efficient to metabolize glutamine at both pH 2.5 and 3.5.



Figure 4. Survival of *L. reuteri* in pH 3.5 Phosphate Buffer. Survival of *L. reuteri* 100-23 (WT), *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gadB$  (gadB) and *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gls$ 1-2-3 (gls) in 200mm pH= 3.5 phosphate buffer ( $\bullet$ ), in phosphate buffer with 20 mM glutamate ( $\bigcirc$ ), or in phosphate buffer with 20 mM glutamine ( $\checkmark$ ) after 24 hours of incubation at 37°C. Cell counts were plotted as log CFU/ mL (N/N0). Data are mean values of three independent experiments +/- standard deviations. \* means that the two-paired T-test between the control and the treatment showed significant difference (P<0.05), and  $\bigstar$  represents treand of difference (0.05<P<0.1).

Taken together, the results demonstrate that *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gad$ B, *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gls$ 1-2-3 and wild-type benefit from glutamine supplementation under acidic condition in terms of survival. Glutamine deamidation by glutaminase mediates acid resistance and protects *L. reuteri* against acid stress, independent of glutamate decarboxylation. In addition, *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gls$ 1-2-3, based on the cell count, was less impaired under acid pressure when compared to wild-type strain on survival. Without the ability to process glutamine properly, mutant can no longer rely on *gls*-mediated glutamine metabolism to cope with acid pressure, suggesting alternative acid resistance mechanisms might be involved. Furthermore, because of the glutamate accumulation, glutamine deamidation activity was not entirely dysfunctional in *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gls$ 1-2-3 even with the three glutaminases disrupted; however, the alternative ways of glutamine deamination do not affect acid resistance.

# 3.2.3 Glutamine conversion in pH 6.2 buffer

Assessment of pH 6.2 buffer for glutamine metabolism was performed. Glutamine, glutamate and GABA level were quantified with *L. reuteri* 100-23 or *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gad$ B or *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gls$ 1-2-3 samples incubated at 37°C in 200mM pH 6.2 phosphate buffer with 10 mM glutamate, or with 10 mM glutamine after 24 hours. Glutamate decarboxylase activity is limited at pH 6.2 (Hiraga et al., 2008); therefore the conversion to GABA was inhibited.

Previous observation in figure 2 and 3 suggested that the conversion of glutamine to glutamate in *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gls$ 1-2-3 was not fully disabled despite the disruption of three glutaminases. With the addition of pH 6.2 buffer assessments, the results solve the paradoxical situation observed at pH 2.5 and 3.5.

Glutamate accumulation was observed in the three strains tested, even without the glutamine added in the buffer. The concentration of glutamate in pH 6.2 buffer increased by ~ 0.13-0.41 mM after 24 hours of incubation with glutamine addition; glutamate level increased by ~ 1.9-3.1 mM while no glutamine was provided to the buffer. GABA content in pH 6.2 buffer of glutamine supplemented *L. reuteri* 100-23 and *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gls$ 1-2-3 treatments both increased by ~ 0.02 mM.

According to figure 2 and 3, it is clear to conclude that abundant glutamine enhances acid resistance of *L. reuteri* 100-23 and *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gad$ B, as the survival of *L. reuteri* 100-23

and *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gad$ B is favored by up to ~3 logs CFU/mL when 20mM glutamine was added to the buffer. The buffer system is a simple model for monitoring bacteria survival under acidic stress, since the there was only one substrate provided in each treatment. Considering the glutamine concentration change throughout the incubation span, it can be concluded that glutamine deamination by *gls* activity under acidic environment is beneficial to *L. reuteri* 100-23 survival.

## 3.3 Growth during sourdough fermentation

Sourdough fermentation with *L. reuteri* 100-23 or its isogenic mutants were carried out with whole-wheat flour at 37C for 96 hours. Cell counts and pH were measured every 24 hours throughout the fermentation.



Figure 5. Cell counts and pH measurement of whole wheat sourdough fermented with *L.* reuteri 100-23 ( $\bigcirc$ ), *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gad$ B ( $\bigcirc$ ), *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gls$  2-3 ( $\bigtriangledown$ ), or *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gls$ 1-2-3 ( $\triangle$ ), chemically acidified sourdough ( $\blacksquare$ ) respectively over 96 h. Symbols indicate means +/-standard deviation from triplicate determinations.

Sourdough samples had an initial inoculum of 9-9.6 log CFU/mL and the growth patterns of wild-type and mutant strains in sourdough were identical, reaching their peak cell counts of ~10.5 log CFU/mL at their first measuring time point, t=24 hours. Cell count for the chemical acidified sourdough was below the detection limit. As for pH, chemical acidified sourdough maintained a pH of 3.8-4.0 during fermentation; and other treatment groups had a pH drop from ~6.0 to ~3.5 after 24 hours of anaerobic fermentation at  $37^{\circ}$ C.

Cell counts started to decrease after the first 24 hours gradually and at the end of the fermentation; and pH remained consistent after the first 24 hours of fermentation, maintaining at  $\sim$ pH 3.5.

#### 3.4 Metabolism of glutamine in sourdough

# 3.4.1 Glutamine, glutamate and GABA in sourdough

The metabolism of glutamine and glutamate by *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gad$ B, *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gls$  2-3, *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gls$ 1-2-3 and wild-type strain were further explored in sourdough fermentation. Whole wheat flour sourdough were prepared with each strain and incubated at 37°C for 96 hours. Figure 5 demonstrated the concentration of the three metabolites quantified by HPLC.

The concentration change of the three compounds in figure 5, clearly showed that *L. reuteri* 100-23 contains the ability of converting glutamine to glutamate then to GABA. The accumulation of GABA reached 57.7  $\pm$  6.0 mmol/kg of sourdough after 96 hours of fermentation; but the concentration of the other two metabolites remained below 20 mmol/kg, indicating that the wild-type fermented sourdough does not accumulate glutamine or glutamate. In addition, *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gls$  2-3 was added as a comparison and it behaved very similar to that of the wild-type throughout fermentation.

*L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gadB$  accumulates glutamate (Su et al., 2011). The concentration of glutamate increased gradually during 96 hours of incubation and yielded to  $65.2 \pm 0.3$  mmol/kg at the end of fermentation as shown in figure 5. Besides, this mutant lost the ability to produce GABA, as the concentration of GABA remained insignificant comparing to the other strains tested (lower or equal to the chemically acidified treatment).

Glutamine accumulation in *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gls$ 1-2-3 is clearly showed in figure 5. The strain lost *gls*-related activities, as the three glutaminases coding genes were knocked out. However, the mutant showed comparable levels of glutamate to that of the chemically acidified group. Figure 5 listed that the concentrations were 42.1 ± 5.6 mmol/ kg of glutamine and 45.7 ± 1.2 mmol/kg of glutamate after 96h fermentation, respectively. GABA levels was relatively high for the triple knock-out mutant, which was in accordance with the GABA content of pH 6.2 buffer assessment observation.

The changes of glutamine and glutamate levels in sourdough over 96 hours fermentation indicated that glutamine concentration of *L. reuteri* 100-23 and *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gadB$  remained considerably low comparing to the chemically acidified treatment. Taken the cell count

and pH into consideration as listed in figure 4, glutamine deamidation is mainly used for growth for the first 24 hours; and after the first 24 hours of propagation, as the pH dropped to 3.5, glutamine is utilized for the purpose of acid resistance. *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gad$ B, in which the conversion of glutamate is disrupted, distinctly showed the gradual accumulation of glutamate over time in figure 5. The content of the three metabolites throughout fermentation is a straightforward demonstration that glutaminase activity is the first step of glutamine metabolism under acidic condition, where glutamine is converted to glutamate by *gls* activity and therefore protects the cells from acid stress.



**Figure 6.** Concentration of glutamine (A), glutamate (B) and GABA (C) during sourdough fermentation at 37°C over 96 h with *L. reuteri* 100-23 (WT), *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gadB$  (gadB), *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gls$  2-3 (gls2-3), or *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gls$ 1-2-3 (gls1-2-3), chemically acidified sourdough (Chemically acidified). Columns represent means  $\pm$  standard deviation from independent triplicate fermentations.

## 3.5 Glutamine, glutamate and GABA in sourdough bread

Whole-wheat sourdough breads were prepared with 6% sourdough incorporated. Bread samples were freeze dried, and concentrations of glutamine, glutamate and GABA were also evaluated. Results were plotted in figure 6.



Figure 7. Concentration of Glutamine, Glutamate and  $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acid (GABA) of Freeze-dried bread: produced by 6% sourdough inoculum, fermented with *L. reuteri* 100-23 (Black bar), or *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gad$ B (Grey bar), or *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gls$ 1-2-3 (White bar). Columns represent means ± standard deviation from three repeats.

Figure 6 demonstrated the change in terms of concentration for glutamine after baking. After the heat treatment, the data showed that *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gls$  1-2-3 fermented sourdough bread still contained the most glutamine among the three breads, with  $1.1 \pm 0.1$  mmol glutamine per kg of dried bread. There is a difference tendency towards the level of glutamine between *L. reuteri* 

100-23  $\Delta gls$  1-2-3 sourdough bread and *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gad$ B produced sourdough bread, where the P value of 0.0603 is less than 0.1 yet larger than 0.05.

Glutamate content remained the high in bread produced with *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gadB$ , which is explainable since the ability to metabolize glutamate was disrupted by the disruption of glutamate decarboxylase.

Sourdough bread produced with *L. reuteri* 100-23 had the highest level of GABA,  $11.6 \pm 1.0$  mmol/ kg of dried bread. Moreover, GABA content suggests a significant difference between *L. reuteri* 100-23 sourdough bread and *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gad$ B bread, for which the P value was 0.0065.

## 3.6 Sensory evaluation of sourdough bread

The most abundant amino acid in wheat proteins is glutamine. Glutamine is converted to glutamate or  $\gamma$ -aminobutyrate by glutaminase in *Lactobacillus reuteri* and other sourdough lactobacilli. Sensory evaluation was conducted to understand the consumers' perspective of taste on bread produced with different *L. reuteri* strains.

# **3.6.1 Demographic information**

Forty-one recruited panelists successfully completed the sensory evaluation at University of Alberta AFNS, in a sensory laboratory with controlled white lighting, 22°C, 45% RH and positive pressure. Majority of the participants were female and 71% of the people belong to the age group of 18-29 years old. 88% of the panellists were either familiar with or heard of sourdough bread.



Figure 8. Demographic summary of the consumers participated in the sourdough bread sensory evaluation, n=41.

# 3.6.2 Triangle tests

The impact on the taste of sourdough bread depends on the metabolism of glutamine during fermentation. Glutamine is tasteless, while glutamate is the major contributor to savory "umami" taste.

Two sets of triangle test were implemented at the first part of the sensory evaluation, to investigate whether or not the consumers could differentiate the sourdough bread fermented with various strains of *L. reuteri* 100-23.



**Figure 9. Differentiation of breads by Triangle test.** Identification in terms of percentage: the results from 41 participants who identified the odd sourdough sample in triangle tests with random codes. Significance is determined according to the minimum numbers of correct judgments to establish significance in a triangle test (Lawless & Heymann, 2010).

Evaluation of sourdough bread fermented with *L. reuteri* strains demonstrated a significant difference between the glutamate accumulating *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gadB$  bread and the GABA ( $\gamma$ -aminobutyrate) accumulating wild type *L. reuteri* 100-23 bread. Between the two breads, 24 participants correctly identified the odd sample among the three, which exceeds the minimum number of correct response required (19, p< 0.05) according to the minimum numbers of correct judgments to establish significance in a triangle test (Lawless & Heymann, 2010).

In contrast, bread produced with the *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gls$ 1-2-3, which does not convert glutamine to either glutamate or  $\gamma$ -aminobutyrate, was not different from bread produced with *L. reuteri* 100-23. Only 15 accurate identifications were collected out of the 41 panellists.

# 3.6.3 Attributes ranking test

Friedman rank test (Lawless & Heymann, 2010) was employed (score 1-9), to better understand consumers' perception of the sourdough bread in terms of saltiness, sourness, overall taste and overall preference.

As shown in Table 4, bread fermented with the *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gls$ 1-2-3 was rated 6.244 and 6.195 out of 9.0 on overall taste and likeness; while the wide type produced bread scored 5.976 and 5.878 for overall taste and likeness, respectively.

ANOVA tests indicated that none of the four attributes assessed were rated significantly different among the three sourdough breads (p < 0.05).

The difference detected in the triangle test between the glutamate accumulating *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gad$ B bread and the GABA ( $\gamma$ -aminobutyrate) accumulating wild type *L. reuteri* 100-23 bread was not derivable to the specific attributes assessed.

# TABLE 3. ANOVA for Attributes ranking of the sourdough breadevaluation

Attributes		Treatments		Significant
	100-23	100-23 ∆ <i>gad</i> B	100-23 ∆gls1-2-3	Difference (p <0.05)
Saltiness	4.439	4.512	4.561	NO
Sourness	4.536	4.195	4.658	NO
Overall Taste	5.976	6.146	6.244	NO
Overall Likeness	5.878	6.049	6.195	NO

(n=41, score range 1-9)

# **4 DISCUSSION**

This project was designed to investigate the role of glutaminase activity in *L. reuteri* 100-23, in terms of their contribution to acid resistance and glutamine metabolism throughout sourdough fermentation.

# 4.1 Double crossover mutagenesis

Disruption or interruption of a targeted gene is usually achieved through homologous recombination (Walter et al., 2005), which involves integrating a shuttle plasmid in to the host. However, the insertion mutation can be problematic considering the stability of the shuttle plasmid, as well as the requirement of antibiotics supplementation. Antibiotic resistance is a major ethical concern for sensory evaluation.

Recombineering is an efficient homologous recombination method *in vivo*, which allows precise construction of DNA molecules junctions and avoids the use of restriction enzymatic sites (Sharan et al., 2009). Single-stranded DNA (ssDNA) recombineering has been applied in *Lactobacillus reuteri* by combining CRISPR-Cas9 (van-Pijkeren et al., 2012).

Double crossover mutagenesis is an alternative method to generate a deletion mutant. In this project, multiple deletions are required since *L. reuteri* 100-23 contains three coding genes for glutaminases (Teixeira et al., 2014). With the availability of the single-deletion mutant *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gls1$ , *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gls2$  and *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gls3$ , as well as the plasmids with *gls* region disrupted, the double crossover mutagenesis method is desirable. This arrangement eliminates the concerns of shuttle plasmid transposition or interference of foreign genes; moreover, the deletion mutant (Su, 2011). The in-frame deletion minimizes the polar effects of the down-stream gene expression. Therefore, sourdough bread fermented with the antibiotic-resistance free mutant is suitable for sensory evaluation.

It is necessary to point out that this *in-cis* replacement of mutation is not perfect. The construction of the mutant involves ligation of the upper and down stream of the targeted gene,

which means that the adjacent region of the targeted coding piece might be affected or altered through the process.

#### 4.2 Acid resistance of L. reuteri 100-23

#### 4.2.1 Overview of glutamine-mediated acid tolerance in L. reuteri 100-23

Glutamine is converted to glutamate by glutaminases and produces ammonia at the same time. The free ammonia neutralizes proton, therefore regulate the pH when encounters acid pressure (Lu et al., 2013).

Glutaminase's association with acid resistance was first thoroughly established and characterized in *E. coli*; Lu and others reported the identification of a two-component acid resistance system that is comprised of the glutaminase YbaS and the amino acid antiporter GadC in *E. coli*. The optimal pH for YbaS and GadC is 6.0 and below and they are activated by acidic pH, which is in accordance with their acid resistance responsibility (Lu et al., 2013).

Glutaminase activity is strain specific in lactic acid bacteria and *L. reuteri* 100-23 harbors three functional glutaminases: *gls*1, *gls*2, and *gls*3 (Teixeira et al., 2014). Since glutamine is the most abundant amino acid in wheat proteins and proteolysis of wheat proteins releases high levels of glutamine (Gänzle et al., 2007), the glutaminase acid-resistance system identified in *E. coli* is likely to have a key role for the survival in *L. reuteri* 100-23. Relevant studies showed that *Lactobacillus sanfranciscensis* had a higher final pH in the 75mmol glutamine-containing medium than the final pH in regular mMRS medium (Vermeulen et al., 2007); and Lackovic et al. (2001) reported that comparing to the *Streptococcus mutans* wild type, strains without the glutamine transport system was more sensitive against acid stress; both suggesting the association between glutaminase/ glutamine antiport and acid resistance.

The function of glutaminase in acid-tolerant *Lactobacillus* is not fully understood, hence, this study aimed to understand whether glutamine conversion to glutamate by glutaminase activity improves the survival of *L. reuteri* under acidic conditions independent of other amino acids conversion. In terms of gene expression among the three glutaminases, all expressed during growth; in particular, *gls3* and *gad*B were correspondingly over-expressed, which is in accordance with the sequential conversion between glutamine, glutamate and GABA in *L. reuteri* 100-23 (Teixeira et al., 2014).

Two pH levels were selected in this study: a pH of 2.5 adjusted with HCl was chosen to match the gastric fluid environment and a pH of 3.5 was selected to mimic the sourdough fermentation condition and the fore-stomach environment. Glutamine and glutamate metabolism implies a role of glutamine to acid resistance in *L. reuteri* 100-23 (Vermeulen et al., 2007). Glutamate supplementation helped the survival of *L. reuteri* 100-23 at pH 2.5 (Su et al., 2011; Teixeira et al., 2014), while this study suggests the protective effect of glutamate on *L. reuteri* 100-23 at pH 3.5.

Glutamine supplementation significantly increased the survival of *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gad$ B at pH 2.5 (Teixeira et al., 2014); it was confirmed and extended in this project at both pH 2.5 and 3.5. This study determines that glutamine deamination under acidic environment is beneficial to *L. reuteri* 100-23 survival. The survival of *E. coli* at pH 2.5 was improved significantly with the supplementation of glutamate and glutamine but not with arginine or other amino acids; and GadC has been pinpointed to transport glutamine in *E. coli* (Lu et al., 2013), while in *L. reuteri* 100-23 the antiporters of glutamate and it is functional only at pH lower than 6.5 (Ma et al., 2012). Regardless of the impaired Glutamate/GABA antiport under acidic conditions in minimal media, intracellular GABA accumulation is observed in *Listeria monocytogenes* cells; intracellular GAD system is the more active towards acid pressure (pH 4.0-5.0) than the extracellular one (Karatzas et al., 2012).

Foster (et al., 2004) pointed out that amino acid-dependent acid resistance systems contribute to converting inside negative membrane potential to positive charge. Thus, reversing transmembrane potential and maintaining a stable intracellular pH value consists the acid resistance strategy in *E. coli*.

Intracellular pH plays a crucial role in the transportation of glutamine/glutamate. The selection of ions being transported determines the neutralization of protons and the polarization of the membrane; when pH is lower than 4.0, the  $\gamma$ -carboxyl group (pKa 4.25) is mostly protonated, therefore neutral charged glutamate is the prevailing form (Teixeira et al., 2014); membrane polarization and cytoplasmic pH escalation was observed in *L. reuteri* through the action of glutamate decarboxylase (Teixeira et al., 2014; Gänzle, 2015).

#### 4.2.2 Acid resistance of L. reuteri 100-23 Δgls1-2-3

Cell counts indicated that pH=2.5, additional glutamine or glutamate does not aid the survival of *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gls$ 1-2-3 (Figure 2). Without the glutaminase activity, it is understandable that glutamine supplementation is no longer protective for the cell; however, glutamate addition benefits the survival of wild-type but not the glutaminases deletion mutant. The survival pattern continued when the pH was adjusted to 3.5, in which glutamate addition was the least favorable to acid stress in pH=3.5 phosphate buffer for *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gls$ 1-2-3 (Figure 3).

The glutamate transporter, aside from protonated glutamate, can also transport glutamine with a high affinity (Oppedisano et al., 2007). The competition over anti-porters and pH limitation could be the reasons why *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gls$ 1-2-3 does not profit from glutamate supplementation. Moreover, with the disruption of the glutamine deamidation pathways, the mutant could rely on other outlets when encountered with acid stress.

Lactic acid bacteria transportation of glutamine and glutamate has been reported for *Lactobacillus casei* (Strobel et al. 1989). GlnPQ, an ABC transporter in *Lactococcus lactis*, transport glutamine / glutamate but inhibited by arginine and  $\gamma$ -glutamylhydrazide; and the transporter activity is associated with internal pH, for which the glutamate uptake peaks at internal pH ~7.3 while inactive below pH 6 (Schuurman-Wolters & Poolman 2005). The pH dependence of GlnPQ suggests that the transporter is relevant to cell growth and anabolism but not to acid resistance.

In *L. reuteri* 100-23, it has been demonstrated that the conversion of glutamate to GABA by glutamate decarboxylase contributes to acid resistance (Su et al., 2011); In *E. coli*, an amino acid antiporter GadC that exchanges extracellular glutamine or glutamate with intracellular GABA, and GadA and GadB- two glutamate decarboxylases that catalyze the reaction of glutamate to GABA, take part in the acid resistance system (Foster, 2004; Lu et al., 2013).

Another acid resistance system for pH homeostasis is associated with arginine metabolism. In lactic acid bacteria, it is achieved through the arginine deiminase (ADI) pathway, in which the acidic pressure is relieved by intracellular consumption of protons and the production of ATP (Cunin et al. 1986; Konings, 2002). Arginine deiminase activity contributes to the acid resistance of *L. reuteri* CRL 1098 (Rollan et al. 2003), but it is absent in *L. sanfranciscensis* DSM20451

(Vermeulen et al., 2006). Survival of *L. reuteri* at pH 3.5 were improved with arginine supplementation and *L. reuteri* was enhanced by additional glutamine or glutamate at pH 2.5, indicating that acid resistance mechanisms are supplementary to each other while under different conditions (Teixeira et al., 2014).

In addition to glutamine / glutamate or arginine based acid tolerance, amino acids based pH homeostasis of lactic acid bacteria also involves the decarboxylation of histidine, ornithine or tyrosine (Gänzle, 2015). *L. reuteri* possesses histidine decarboxylase (Hdc) while ornithine decarboxylase (OrnDC) and tyrosine decarboxylase (TyrDC) are absent (Zheng et al., 2015a). Urease production in rodent isolate *L. reuteri* 100-23 is associated with acid tolerance (Wilson et al., 2014); however, urea hydrolysis is irrelevant in food fermentation (Zheng et al., 2015a).

## 4.3 Effect of glutamate producing L. reuteri on the taste of bread

Disruption of the glutaminases leaves an impact on the accumulation of the taste active glutamate, therefore, sensory evaluation of sourdough breads produced with various *L. reuteri* was conducted to determine the influence of the glutamine metabolism on bread taste. 6% of sourdough inoculum was chosen for the bread sensory evaluation after pre-test of three various inoculum levels, 3%, 6% and 10%. It is difficult to detect the differences between the 3% sourdough breads and the 10% inoculum is unacceptable for consumer panel, in which the pungent acidic flavour overshadows any other odor or taste.

Glutamate is the major contributor to the umami flavor ("savory taste"); whereas glutamine is a tasteless amino acid that is frequently associated with bodybuilding supplements (Colker et al., 2000). Sourdough bread showed improved flavor with additional amino acids to the dough as well as with the addition of fungal protease (Thiele et al., 2002). It is suggested that glutamate formation, aside from the formation of volatiles from amino acids during baking, may contribute to bread flavor (Schieberle, 1996). Lactobacilli convert glutamine into glutamate during growth in sourdough and glutamate production in sourdough became a factor to prompt the flavor of the bread (Vermeulen et al., 2007).

Considering the HPLC analysis of amino acids concentration in both sourdough and sourdough bread samples, together with the sensory evaluation results, it can be concluded that sourdough bread fermented with *L. reuteri* strains demonstrated a significant difference in terms of taste

between the glutamate accumulating *L. reuteri* 100-23 $\Delta gad$ B and the  $\gamma$ -aminobutyrate accumulating wild type *L. reuteri* 100-23, according to the sensory evaluation of 44 untrained panelists. The taste threshold of MSG in bread is approximately 2 mmol/kg (Zhao et al., 2015). In this study, the glutamate level in bread produced with *L. reuteri* 100-23, *L. reuteri* 100-23 $\Delta gad$ B and *L. reuteri* 100-23  $\Delta gls$ 1-2-3 was 8~12 mmol/kg, which is 3~5 folds higher than the threshold. This correlates with the previous study where a consumer panel detected significant difference between glutamate- and GABA- producing *L. reuteri* sourdough bread; and a trained panel identified the specific feature to be "umami" (Zhao et al., 2015). As listed in Table 4., the untrained participants did not pinpoint the taste difference onto specific attribute assessed.

On the other hand, bread produced with the *L. reuteri* 100-23 $\Delta gls$ 1-2-3, which does not convert glutamine to either glutamate or  $\gamma$ -aminobutyrate, was not different from bread produced with *L. reuteri* 100-23. This can be explained by the glutamate levels during sourdough fermentation, in which the concentration was identical for both of the chemical acidified control and the *L. reuteri* 100-23 $\Delta gls$ 1-2-3 treatment (Figure 5), suggesting chemical deamidation of glutamine during type II sourdough fermentation.

# 4.4 Glutamine and Glutamate metabolism in L. reuteri 100-23

The glutamine and glutamate metabolism in *L. reuteri* 100-23 is not simply mediated by the two enzymes glutaminase and glutamate decarboxylase, based on the metabolites levels monitored throughout the sourdough fermentation (Figure 5). Functional genes screening through the database of IMG (Integrated Microbial Genomes) shows that *L. reuteri* 100-23 harbors one coding region for glutamine synthetase- glnA (GS, EC. 6.3.1.2).

Glutamine synthetase (GS) is an enzyme that catalyzes the condensation of glutamate and ammonia and produces glutamine: glutamine generation is favored when an ammonium ion attacks the acyl-phosphate, and if water attacks the intermediate then glutamate production is preferred (Eisenberg et al., 2000). In *Lactobacillus sanfranciscensis*, glutamine deamidation by crude cell extracts was detected, indicating glutaminase activity rather than glutamine synthetase activity (Vermeulen et al., 2007).

During sourdough fermentation, cells and metabolites were exposed to acidic environment (pH 3.5-4.3) for days (Thiele et al, 2002), this condition could affect the chemically deamidation of

glutamine. A more facile deamidation of glutamine residue in glucagon fragment 22-29 when encounters acidic conditions was observed; degradation at pH 2.5-3.0, 60°C for 70 h showed that glutaminyl deamidation at glucagon fragment 3, 20, and 24 (Joshi et al., 2000; Joshi et al., 2002). Glutamine is converted to cyclic 5-oxoproline in water at neutral pH when heated to 100°C, and furthermore, the production of glutamate occurs when dilute aqueous HCl is presented, because cyclic 5-oxoproline could react with H<sub>2</sub>O (Halim et al., 2014). This could explain that glutamate accumulation was not solely by the action of glutaminases, but the combination of the alternative metabolic and degradation pathways.

The keto-acid product of glutamate deamination,  $\alpha$  -ketoglutarate ( $\alpha$  -KG), also takes part in the metabolism of glutamine and glutamate in *L. reuteri* 100-23. In *Lactobacillus lactis* and certain lactobacilli, it was shown that  $\alpha$  -KG was produced from glutamate via the action of a glutamate dehydrogenase. A study showed the production of  $\alpha$ -KG via the action of citrate permease, citrate lyase and aspartate aminotransferase was found to be functional in *Lactococcus lactis* subsp *diacetylactis* (Tanous et al., 2005). *Lactobacillus sanfranciscensis* DSM20451 demonstrated glutamate dehydrogenase activity, converting glutamate to  $\alpha$ -ketoglutarate (Vermeulen et al., 2006). In bacteria, thus conversion can go both ways, depending on the environment. It is a crucial intermediate in Kerbs cycle and formation of other amino acids (Tanous et al., 2005). Screening through RAST database (rapid annotation using subsystem technology, V2.0) indicates that *L. reuteri* does not contain the full citric acid cycles.

Taken together, a proposed glutamine and glutamate metabolic pathways in *L. reuteri* 100-23 was summarized Figure 9. Glutamine deamidation during sourdough fermentation could be a competitive advantage for lactic acid bacteria growth and survival; ammonia is preferred as the nitrogen source over amino acids for yeast (Gobbetti, 1998; Vermeulen et al., 2007). Glutamine and glutamate metabolism in *L. reuteri* contributes to acid resistance and leaves an impact on the flavor and taste of bread (Su et al., 2011; Teixeira et al., 2014).

# **5** CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

This study aimed to understand the role of glutaminase activity in *L. reuteri* 100-23.

In terms of contribution to acid resistance, glutaminase activity enhances the survival of *L. reuteri* 100-23 in both acidic environments (*in vitro*) and sourdough fermentations (*in vivo*) by deamidation of glutamine to glutamate. Analysis of the glutamine / glutamate dependent acid resistance demonstrated that glutamine deamidation improved acid resistance independent of glutamate decarboxylation. By disruption of the three glutaminase genes, cells were still resistant under acid pressure, indicating that *L. reuteri* 100-23 acid resistance does not solely rely on glutaminase activity. Literature review suggests that other mechanisms are involved in *L. reuteri* acid resistance, including antiporters of glutamine (Lu et al., 2013); arginine deiminase (ADI) pathway (Rollan et al. 2003), glutamate decarboxylase activity (Su et al., 2011) and histidine decarboxylase (Gänzle 2015; Zheng et al., 2015a).

For *L. reuteri* 100-23 glutamine metabolism, alternative way of deamination (i.e. chemical deamidation) that accumulates glutamate was observed during long-hour sourdough fermentation (37°C, 96h). Evaluation of sourdough bread fermented with *L. reuteri* strains demonstrated a significant difference between the glutamate accumulating *L. reuteri* 100-23 $\Delta$ gadB and the GABA accumulating wild type *L. reuteri* 100-23. In contrast, bread produced with *L. reuteri* 100-23 $\Delta$ gls1-2-3, which does not convert glutamine to either glutamate or  $\gamma$ -aminobutyrate, was not different from bread produced with *L. reuteri* 100-23.

Glutamine conversion of sourdough lactobacilli contributes to acid resistance, and enhances the taste of bread. A better understanding of *L. reuteri* to cereal fermentation ecosystems is achieved through the extended information on acid resistance and glutamine conversion of the *L. reuteri*, assisting the selection of strains that can be used as starter cultures for baking improvers (i.e. production of salt reduced bread).

Exploration on the changes of transmembrane electrical potential and the intracellular pH measurements under acidic condition would further facilitate the understanding and characterization of glutaminase activity to acid resistance.

# **6 REFERENCES**

- Angelis MD, Bini L, Pallini V, Cocconcelli PS, Gobbetti M (2001) The acid-stress response in *Lactobacillus sanfranciscensis* CB1. Microbiology 147: 1863–1873
- Arendt EK, Ryan LA, Bello FD (2007) Impact of sourdough on the texture of bread. Food Microbiology 24: 165–174
- Baryłko-Pikielna N, Kostyra E (2007) Sensory interaction of umami substances with model food matrices and its hedonic effect. Food Quality and Preference 18: 751–758.
- Brandt MJ, Roth K, Hammes WP (2003) Effect of an exopolysaccharide produced by *Lactobacillus sanfranciscensis* LTH1729 on dough and bread quality. In Sourdough, From Fundamentals to Applications ed.de Vuyst, L. p. 80. Brussels: Vrije Universiteit Brussel (VUB), IMDO.
- Brandt MJ & Gänzle MG (2006) Geschichte des Sauerteiges. In Handbuch Sauerteig, 6 ed. Hamburg: Behr's Verlag. 2006:1-5
- Brandt MJ (2007) Sourdough products for convenient use in baking. Food Microbiol, 24:161-164.
- Brown G, Singer A, Proudfoot M, Skarina T, Kim YC, Chang CS, Dementieva I, Kuznetsova E,
  Gonzalez C, Joachimiak A, Savchenko A, Yakunin AF (2008) Functional and Structural
  Characterization of Four Glutaminases from *Escherichia coli* and *Bacillus subtilis*.
  Biochemistry 47: 5724–5735
- Budin-Verneuil A, Maguin E, Auffray Y, Ehrlich DS, Pichereau V (2006) Genetic structure and transcriptional analysis of the arginine deiminase (ADI) cluster in *Lactococcus lactis* MG1363.Can J Microbiol52: 617–622
- Cappelle S, Guylaine L, Gänzle MG, Gobbetti M (2013) History and Social Aspects of Sourdough. In: Gobbetti M, Gänzle M, editors. Handbook on Sourdough Biotechnology. Boston, MA. pp. 1–10.

- Champomier-Verges MC, Zuniga M, Morel-Deville F, Perez-Martinez G, et al., (1999) Relationships between arginine degradation, pH and survival in *Lactobacillus sakei*. FEMS Microbiol Lett180:297–304
- Coda R, Rizzello CG, Gobbetti M (2010) Use of sourdough fermentation and pseudo-cereals and leguminous flours for the making of a functional bread enriched of γ-aminobutyric acid (GABA). International Journal of Food Microbiology 137: 236–245
- Colker CM, Swain MA, Fabrucini B, Shi Q, Kalman DS (2000) Effects of supplemental protein on body composition and muscular strength in healthy athletic male adults. Cuurrent therapeutic research 61 (1): 19-28
- Cook GM & Russell JB (1994) The effect of extracellular pH and lactic acid on pH homeostasis in *Lactococcus lactis* and *Streptococcus bovis*. Curr. Microbiol. 28:165–168.
- Corsetti A, De Angelis M, Dellaglio F, Paparella A, Fox PF, Settanni L, Gobbetti M (2003). Characterization of sourdough lactic acid bacteria based on genotypic and cell-wall protein analyses. Journal of Applied Microbiology 94: 641–654.
- Cotter PD, Gahan CGM, Hill C (2001) A glutamate decarboxylase system protects *Listeria monocytogenes* in gastric fluid. Molecular Microbiology 40 (2): 465-475.
- Cunin R, Glansdorff N, Pierard A, Stalon V (1986) Biosynthesis and metabolism of arginine in bacteria. Microbiol. Rev. 50:314-352
- Darmaun D, Matthews DE, Bier DM (1986) Glutamine and glutamate kinetics in humans. AM. J. Physiol. 251:117-126
- De Vuyst L, Schrijvers V, Paramithiotis S, Hoste B, Vancanneyt M, Swings J, Kalantzopoulos G, Tsakalidou E, Messens W (2002) The biodiversity of lactic acid bacteria in Greek traditional wheat sourdoughs is reflected in both composition and metabolite formation. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 68: 6059–6069.
- De Vuyst L, Vrancken G, Ravyts F, Rimaux T, Weckx S (2009) Biodiversity,ecological determinants, and metabolic exploitations of sourdough microbiota. Food Microbiol, 26:666-675.

- Eisenberg D, Gill HS, Pfluegl GM, Rotstein SH (2000) Structure-function relationships of glutamine synthetases. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta 1477 (1-2): 122–45.
- Feehily C & Karatzas KA (2012) Role of glutamate metabolism in bacterial responses towards acid and other stresses. Journal of Applied Microbiology 114:11-24
- Foster JW & Hall HK (1990) Adaptive acidification tolerance response of *Salmonella typhimurium*. J. Bacteriol.172:771–778
- Foster JW & Hall HK (1991) Inducible pH homeostasis and the acid tolerance response of *Salmonella typhimurium*. J. Bacteriol.173:5129–5135
- Foster JW (2004) *Escherichia coli* acid resistance: Tales of an amateur acidophile. Nature Rev. Microbiol. 2: 898–907
- Foster JW, Richard H (2004) *Escherichia coli* glutamate- and arginine- dependent acid resistance systems increase internal pH and reverse transmenbrane potential. J. Bacteriol. 186(18): 6032–6041
- Gänzle MG, Ehmann M, Hammes WP (1998) Modeling of Growth of *Lactobacillus sanfranciscensis* and *Candida milleri* in Response to Process Parameters of Sourdough Fermentation. Appl Environ Microbiol 64(7): 2616–2623.
- Gänzle MG, Vermeulen N, Vogel R (2007) Carbohydrate, peptide and lipid metabolism of lactic acid bacteria in sourdough. Food Microbiology 24: 128–138
- Gänzle MG (2014) Enzymatic and bacterial conversions during sourdough fermentation. Food Microbiology 37: 2-10
- Gänzle MG (2015) Lactic metabolism revisited: metabolism of lactic acid bacteria in food fermentations and food spoilage. Curr Opin Food Sci 2:106–117.
- Giacometti T (1979) Free and bound glutamate in natural products. Glutamic Acid: Advances in Biochemistry and Physiology. Raven Pres, New York, 25-34.
- Gobbetti M (1998) The sourdough microflora: Interactions of lactic acid bacteria and yeasts. Trends Food Sci Technol 9: 267–274

- Gobbetti M, Angelisb MD, Corsetti A, Cagno RD (2005) Biochemistry and physiology of sourdough lactic acid bacteria. Trends in Food Science & Technology 16: 57–69
- Gobbetti M & Gänzle MG (2013) Handbook on Sourdough Biotechnology. New York: Springer Science & Business Media.
- Griswold AR, Nascimento MM, Burne RA (2009) Distribution, regulation and role of the agmatine deiminase system in mutans streptococci. Oral Microbiology Immunology 24: 79–82
- Halim MA, Almatarneh MH, Poirier RA (2014) Mechanistic study of the deamidation reaction of glutamine: a computational approach. J. Phys. Chem. B 118: 2316–2330
- Hamilton IR (1990) Maintenance of proton motive force by *Streptococcus mutans* and *Streptococcus sobrinus* during growth in continuous culture. Oral Microbiol Immunol 5:280–287.
- Hamilton IR & Buckley ND (1991) Adaptation by *Streptococcus mutans* to acid tolerance. Oral Microbiol. Immunol. 6:65–71
- Han BZ, Rombouts FM, Nout MR (2001) Review: A Chinese fermented soybean food. International Journal of Food Microbiology 65: 1–10
- Hansen A & Hansen B (1996) Flavour of sourdough wheat bread crumb. Z Lebensm Unters Forsch 202: 244-249.
- Hiraga K, Ueno Y, Oda K (2008) Glutamate decarboxylase from *Lactobacillus brevis*: activation by ammonium sulfate. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem 72:1299-1306
- Huang G, Li C, Cao Y (2012) Effect of sodium L-glutamate on growth and survival of *Lactobacillus brevis* NCL912 at different acidic pH. Ann Microbiol 62:351–355.
- Ikeda K (2002) New seasonings. Chem. Senses 27: 847-849
- Inoue K, Shirai T, Ochiai H, Kasao M et al (2003) Blood-pressure-lowering effect of a novel fermented milk containing gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA) in mild hypertensives. Eur J Clin Nutr 57:490–495

- Jeon JM, Lee HI, So JS (2009) Glutaminase activity of *Lactobacillus reuteri* KCTC3594 and expression of the activity in other *Lactobacillus* spp. by introduction of the glutaminase gene.
- Jinap S & Hajeb P (2010) Glutamate: Its applications in food and contribution to health. Appetite 55: 1–10
- Joshi AB, Rus E, Kirsch LE (2000) The degradation pathways of glucagon in acidic solutions. International Journal of Pharmaceutics 203:115–125
- Joshi AB, Kirsch LE (2002) The relative rates of glutamine and asparagine deamidation in glucagon fragment 22-29 under acidic conditions. Journal of pharmaceuticals sciences 91: 2332-2345
- Kaneko S, Kumazawa K, Nishimura O (2011) Isolation and identification of the umami enhancing compounds in Japanese soy sauce. Biosci. Biotechnol. Biochem. 75 (7): 1275-1282
- Karatzas KG, Suur L, O'Byrne CP (2012) Characterization of the intracellular glutamate decarboxylase system: analysis if its function, transcription, and role in acid resistance of various strains of *Listeria monocytogenes*. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 78:3571-3579
- Katina K, Sauri M, Alakomi HL, Mattila-Sandholm T (2002) Potential of lactic acid bacteria to inhibit rope spoilage in wheat sourdough bread. Lebensm.-Wiss. u.-Technol., 35: 38–45
- Kim SH, Shin BH, Kim YH, Nam SW, Jeon SJ (2007) Cloning and Expression of a Full-Length Glutamate Decarboxylase Gene from *Lactobacillus brevis* BH2. Biotechnology and Bioprocess Engineering 12: 707-712
- Ko CY, Lin HV, Tsai GJ (2013) Gamma-aminobutyric acid production in black soybean milk by *Lactobacillus brevis* FPA 3709 and the antidepressant effect of the fermented product on a forced swimming rat model. Process Biochemistry 48: 559–568.
- Kobayashi, H., T. Suzuki, T. Unemoto (1986) Streptococcal cytoplasmic pH is regulated by changes in amount and activity of a proton-translocating ATPase. J. Biol. Chem. 261:627– 630

- Komatsuzaki N, Nakamura T, Kimura T, Shima J (2008) Characterization of glutamate decarboxylase from a high gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA)-producer, *Lactobacillus paracasei*. Biosci. Biotechnol. Biochem 72 (2): 278–285
- Konings WN (2002) The cell membrane and the struggle for life of lactic acid bacteria. Antonie van Leeuwenhoek 82: 3-27
- Krnjević K (1974) Chemical nature of synaptic transmission in vertebrates. Physiol. Rev. 54: 418-540
- Krumbeck JA, Marsteller NL, Frese SA, Peterson DA, Ramer-Tait AE, HutkinsRW, Walter J (2015) Characterization of the ecological role of genes mediating acid resistance in *Lactobacillus reuteri* during colonization of the gastrointestinal tract. Environmental Microbiology
- Lackovic KP, Meloche M, Cuticchia JA, Cvitkovitch DG (2001) Involvement of an amino acid transport system in the acid tolerance of *Streptococcus mutans*. In Abstracts of the 101 General Meeting of the American Society for Microbiology. pp. 462–463. Washington DC: American Society for Microbiology
- Lavermicocca P, Valerio F, Evidente A, Lazzaroni S, Corsetti A, Gobbetti M (2000) Purification and characterization of novel antifungal compounds by sourdough *Lactobacillus plantarum* 21B. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 66: 4084–4090.
- Lawless HT & Heymann H (2010) Sensory Evaluation of Food-Principles and Practices, 2nd Edition. New York: Springer Science & Business Media.
- Lee K, Lee HG, Pi K, Choi YJ. (2008) The effect of low pH on protein expression by the probiotic bacterium *Lactobacillus reuteri*. Proteomics 8(8):1624-1630
- Lin XB & Gänzle MG (2014) Quantitative high-resolution melting PCR analysis for monitoring of fermentation microbiota in sourdough. Int J Food Microbiol 186C: 42–48.
- Lu PL, Ma D, Chen YL Guo YY, Chen GQ, Deng HT, Shi YG (2013) L-glutamine provides acid resistance for *Escherichia coli* through enzymatic release of ammonia. Cell Research 23:635-644

- Lucas PM, Blancato VS, Claisse O, Magni C, Lolkema JS, et al. (2007) Agmatine deiminase pathway genes in *Lactobacillus brevis* are linked to the tyrosine decarboxylation operon in a putative acid resistance locus. Microbiology 153: 2221–2230
- Ma D, Lu PL, Yan C, et al. (2012) Structure and mechanism of a glutamate-GABA antiporter. Nature 483:632-637
- Mazzoli R, Pessione E, Dufour M, Laroute V et al. (2010) Glutamate-induced metabolic changes in *Lactococcus lactis* NCDO 2118 during GABA production: Combined transcriptomic and proteomic analysis. Amino. Acids39: 727-737
- Meroth CB, Walter J, Hertel C, Brandt MJ, Hammes WP (2003) Monitoring the bacterial population dynamics in sourdough fermentation processes by using PCR-denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis. Appl Environ Microbiol 69:475-482.
- Molenaar DJ, Bosscher S, Brink BT, Driessen AJ, Konings WN (1993) Generation of a proton motive force by histidine decarboxylation and electrogenic histidine/histamine antiport in *Lactobacillus buchneri*. J. Bacteriol. 175: 2864–2870.
- Nagaoka H (2005) Treatment of germinated wheat to increase levels of GABA and IP6 catalyzed by endogenous enzymes. Biotechnol. Prog. 21:405–410.
- Nandakumar R, Yoshimuneb K, Wakayamac M, Moriguchib M (2003) Microbial glutaminase: biochemistry, molecular approaches and applications in the food industry. Journal of Molecular Catalysis B: Enzymatic 23: 87–100
- Neu J, Shenoy V, Chakrabarti R (1996) Glutamine nutrition and metabolism: where do we go from here? FASEB J. 10: 829–837
- Nomura M, Nakajima I, Fujita Y, Kobayashi M, Kimoto H, et al. (1999) *Lactococcus lactis* contains only one glutamate decarboxylase gene. Microbiology 145:1375–1380
- Oh SH (2003) Stimulation of gamma-aminobutyric acid synthesis activity in brown rice by a chitosan/Glu germination solution and calcium/calmodulin. J. Biochem. Mol. Biol. 36:319– 325

- Oppedisano F, Pochini L, Galluccio M, Indiveri C (2007) The glutamine/amino acid transporter (ASCT2) reconstituted in liposomes: Transport mechanism, regulation by ATP and characterization of the glutamine/glutamate antiport. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta 1768: 291–298
- Park KB, Oh SH (2006) Cloning, sequencing and expression of a novel glutamate decarboxylase gene from a newly isolated lactic acid bacterium, *Lactobacillus brevis* OPK-3. Bioresource Technol 98: 312–319
- Rhyu MR, Kim EY, Kim HY, Ahn BH, Yang CB (2000) Characteristics of the red rice fermented with fungus *Monascus*. Food Sci.Biotechnol. 9:21–26.
- Rollan G, Lorca GL, Font-de-Valdez G (2003) Arginine catabolism and acid tolerance response in *Lactobacillus reuteri* isolated from sourdough. Food Microbiol. 20:313-319
- Romano A, Trip H, Lolkema JS, Lucas PM (2013) Three-component lysine/ornithine decarboxylation system in *Lactobacillus saerimneri* 30a. J Bacteriol 195:1249–1254
- Romano A, Ladero V, Alvarez MA, Lucas PM (2014) Putrescine production via the ornithine decarboxylation pathway improves the acid stress survival of *Lactobacillus brevis* and is part of a horizontally transferred acid resistance locus. Int J Food Microbiol 175:14–19
- Rundlett KL & Armstrong DW (1994) Evaluation of free D-glutamate in processed foods. Chirality 6: 277–282
- Schieberle P (1996) Intense armona compounds-useful tools to monitor the influence of processing and storage on bread aroma. Adv Food Sci 18: 237–244
- Schuurman-Wolters GK & Poolman B (2005) Substrate specificity and ionic regulation of GlnPQ from *Lactococcus lactis*. J Biol Chem 280: 23785–23790.
- Sedgwick GW, Fenton TF, Thompson JR (1991) Effect of protein precipitating agents on the recovery of plasma free amino acids. Canadian Journal of Animal Science; 71: 953-957
- Sharan SK, Thomason LC, Kuznetsov SG, Court DL (2009) Recombineering: a homologous recombination-based method of genetic engineering. Nature protocols 4(2): 206-223
- Shimada M, Hasegawa T, Nishimura C, Kan H, Kanno T, Nakamura T, Matsubayashi, T (2009) Anti-hypertensive effect of gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA)-rich Chlorella on highnormal blood pressure and borderline hypertension in placebo-controlled double blind study. Clinical and Experimental Hypertension 31(4): 342-354
- Siragusa S, De Angelis M, Di Cagno R, Rizzello CG, Coda R, Gobbetti M (2007) Synthesis of gamma-aminobutyric acid by lactic acid bacteria isolated from a variety of Italian cheeses. Appl Environ Microbiol 73:7283–7290
- Siegumfeld H, Rechinger KB, Jakobsen M (2000) Dynamic changes of intracellular pH in individual lactic acid bacterium cells in response to a rapid drop in extracellular pH. Appl Environ Microbio.l 66 (6): 2330-2335
- Soltani N, Qiu H, Aleksic M, Glinka Y, Zhao F, Liu R, Li Y, et al. (2011) GABA exerts protective and regenerative effects on islet beta cells and reverses diabetes. PNAS Early Edition 108(28): 11692-11697
- Strobel HJ, Russel JB, Driessen A, Konings WN (1989) Transport of amino acids in Lactobacillus casei by proton-motive-force-dependent and non-protonmotive-forcedependent mechanisms. J Bacteriol 171:280–284
- Stromeck A, Hu Y, Chen L, Gänzle MG (2011) Proteolysis and bioconversion of cereal proteins to glutamate and gamma-aminobutyrate in rye malt sourdoughs. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 59: 1392-1399
- Su MS, Oh PL, Walter J, Gänzle MG (2012) Intestinal Origin of Sourdough *Lactobacillus reuteri* Isolates as Revealed by Phylogenetic, Genetic, and Physiological Analysis. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 78(18):6777-80.
- Su MS (2011) Factors contributing to the competitiveness of *Lactobacillus reuteri* in sourdough and rodent gut. https://era.library.ualberta.ca/downloads/w6634443n
- Su MS, Schlicht S, Gänzle MG (2011) Contribution of glutamate decarboxylase in *Lactobacillus reuteri* to acid resistance and persistence in sourdough fermentation. Microbial Cell Factories 10(Suppl 1): S8

- Tapiero H , Mathé G, Couvreur P , Tew KD (2002) Dossier: Free amino acids in human health and pathologies. II. Glutamine and glutamate. Biomed Pharmacother 56 : 446–457
- Tanous C, Gori A, Rijnen L, Chambellon E, Yvon M (2005) Pathways for a-ketoglutarate formation by *Lactococcus lactis* and their role in amino acid catabolism. Int. Dairy J. 15, 759–770
- Teixeira JS, Seeras A, Sanchez-Maldonado AF, Zhang C, Su MS, Gänzle MG (2014) Glutamine, glutamate, and ariginine-nased acid resistance in *Lactobacillus* reuteri. Food Microbiology 42: 172-180
- Thiele C, Gänzle MG, Vogel RF (2002) Contribution of sourdough lactobacilli, yeast and cereal enzymes to the generation of amino acids in dough relevant for bread flavor. Cereal Chemistry 79: 45–51.
- van de Guchte M, Serror P, Chervaux C, Smokvina T et al. (2002) Stress response in lactic acid bacteria. Antonie van Leeuwenhoek 82: 187–216
- van Pijkeren JP & Britton RA (2012) High efficiency recombineering in lactic acid bacteria. Nucleic Acids Res. 40(10): e76
- Vermeulen N, Gänzle MG, Vogel RF (2006) Phenylalanine metabolism Lactobacillus sanfranciscensis DSM 20451T and Lactobacillus plantarum TMW 1.468. J Agric Food Chem 54: 3832–3839
- Vermeulen N, Gänzle MG, Vogel RF (2007) Glutamine deamidation by cereal-associated lactic acid bacteria. Journal of Applied Microbiology 103: 1197–1205
- Vogel RF, Knorr R, Muller MR, Steudel U, Gänzle MG, Ehrmann MA (1999). Non-dairy lactic fermentations: the cereal world. Antonie van Leeuwenhoek 76: 403–411
- Vogelmann SA, Hertel C (2011) Impact of ecological factors on the stability of microbial associations in sourdough fermentation. Food Microbiol 28:583-589.
- Walter J, Chagnaud P, Tannock GW, et al. (2005) A high-molecular-mass surface protein (Lsp) and methionine sulfoxide reductase B (MsrB) contribute to the ecological performance of *Lactobacillus reuteri* in the murine gut. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 71:979-986

- Wall T, Båth K, Britton RA, Jonsson H, Versalovic J, Roos S (2007) The early response to acid shock in *Lactobacillus reuteri* involves the ClpL chaperone and a putative cell wallaltering esterase. Appl Environ Microbiol. 73(12):3924-3935
- Weingand-Ziadé A, Christiane GD, Michael A (2003) Functional characterization of a salt- and thermotolerant glutaminase from *Lactobacillus rhamnosus*. Enzym. Microb. Tech. 32: 862-867
- Wesney E & Tannock GW (1979) Association of rat, pig and fowl biotypes of lactobacilli with the stomach of gnotobiotic mice. Microb Ecol 5:35-42
- Wilson CM, Loach D, Lawley B, Bell T, Sims I, et al. (2014) *Lactobacillus reuteri* 100-23 modulates urea hydrolysis in the murine stomach. Appl Environ Microbiol 80: 6104-6113
- Woraharn S, Lailerd N, Sivamaruth S et al., (2014) Screening and kinetics of glutaminase and glutamate decarboxylase producing lactic acid bacteria from fermented Thai foods. Food Sci. Technol, Campinas 34(4): 793-799
- Zhao C, Kinner M, Wismer W, Gänzle MG (2015) Effect of glutamate accumulation during sourdough fermentation with *Lactobacillus reuteri* on the taste of bread and sodium-reduced bread Cereal Chem 92:224-230
- Zheng J, Ruan L, Sun M, Gänzle M (2015a) A genomic view of lactobacilli and pediococci demonstrates that phylogeny matches ecology and physiology. Appl Environ Microbiol 81:7233–7243
- Zheng J, Zhao X, Lin X, Gänzle MG (2015b) Comparative genomics *Lactobacillus reuteri* from sourdough reveals adaptation of an intestinal symbiont to food fermentations. Scientific Reports 5:18234

# **APPENDICES**

# I. Project Information Sheet: Consumer Panel Sensory Evaluation of Sourdough Bread

**Purpose:** The purpose of this project is to evaluate consumer perception and preference for sourdough bread.

**Consumer panel Methods**: You are being asked to voluntarily participate in a consumer sensory panel to taste three samples of sourdough bread and to evaluate each sample in terms of two sensory attributes and tell us which product you prefer. The products have been prepared in AFNS food laboratory. You will also be asked to complete a questionnaire about your bread consumption habits and provide some demographic information such as your gender and age range. The session will take about 10 minutes.

**Confidentiality:** You are not asked to provide your name on any of the questionnaires; participation is anonymous. Your questionnaires will be given a participant number. Only the student research team will have access to your data.

**Benefits:** The results of this study may not have any direct benefits for you. However, the practice of sensory panel management and results from this study will be valuable to the graduate students who are completing this sensory project as part of the research.

**Risks:** The risks of participating are no different from the normal risks associated with the consumption of wheat bread. The ingredients are as follows:

#### Sourdough bread

- Water
- All-purpose wheat
- flour
- Dried sourdough
- Sugar
- Salt
- Yeast

If you have allergies, intolerances, or sensitivities to any of these ingredients you should not participate.

**Withdrawal from the Study:** Even after you have agreed to participate in the consumer panel, you may withdraw from the session at any time before or during the evaluations. The students will not use any information you have given to that point.

**Use of Your Information:** This study is being done by graduate students in the Department of Agricultural, Food and Nutritional Science for partial fulfillment of thesis research requirement. Your data will be combined with data from other participants and will be used for a project paper and oral presentation describing the research study and results.

#### For further information about the study, you can contact:

Qianying Tao, <u>qt1@ualberta.ca</u> or Dr. Michael Gaenzle, <u>mgaenzle@ualberta.ca</u>

#### For information about how this project is carried out you may contact:

The Research Ethics Office at 780-492-2615. This office has no affiliation with the study investigators.

The plan of the study has been reviewed for its adherence to ethical guidelines and approved by the Research Ethics Board at the University of Alberta.

# II. Consent Form: Consumer Panel Sensory Evaluation of Bread

Please circle your answers:

Do you have any allergies, sensitivities or intolerances to any of the following Yes No ingredients?

## Sourdough bread

- Water
- All-purpose wheat flour
- Dried sourdough (wheat )
- Sugar
- Salt
- Yeast



If you have answered" yes", please stop and tell us immediately.

Do you understand that you have been asked to be in a student project research study?	Yes	No
Have you read and received a copy of the attached Information Sheet?	Yes	No
Do you understand the benefits and risks involved in taking part in this research study?	Yes	No
Have you had an opportunity to ask questions and discuss this study?	Yes	No

Do you understand that you can quit taking part in this study at any time?		No
Has confidentiality been explained to you?	Yes	No
Do you understand who has access to your data?	Yes	No
Do you know what the information you say will be used for?		No
Do you give us permission to use your data for the purposes specified?	Yes	No

This study was explained to me by

I agree to take part in this study.

/\_\_\_/ 2015

Signature of Research Participant

Printed Name

Date (dd/mm/yyyy)

I believe that the person signing this form understands what is involved in the study and voluntarily agrees to participate.

Signature of Investigator or Designee

III.	Sourdough Bread Sensory Evaluation (Demographic) Particip	pant #	
1.	Please indicate your gender:  Male		Female
2.	Please indicate the age group that you belong to:		
	18 years below $\Box$ 18-29 years $\Box$ 30-39 years		
□ 3. W	40-49 years□ 50-59 years□ 60 years and plus/hich of the following breads would you consider to be your favourite?□ Whole Grain Bread□ White Bread□ Brown Bread	Flat B	read
4. O	n average, how often do you consume bread? $\Box$ Once a day $\Box$ 2 – 5 times a week $\Box$ Once a week		
6. W	<ul> <li>Every 2 -3 weeks Never</li> <li>re you familiar with sourdough bread?</li> <li>Yes Heard of it, but never tried it before Never heard of it /hat is your ethnicity?</li> <li>Caucasian African-American Asian Other</li> <li>ease indicate your highest education level achieved</li> <li>Less than high school High school 2-year College of Asian</li> </ul>	legree	
	$\Box$ 4-year College degree (BA, BS) $\Box$ Master's degree $\Box$ Do	ctoral de	gree

Thank you for taking the time to fill out our survey

## **IV. Bread Baking Protocol**

1. Turn on the proof chamber ----2 buttons (time and temperature) Add 2 cups (medium yogurt cup) of water;

Keep at 30 C;

2. Activate yeast by mixing

2g yeast

2g sugar put into proof chamber  $\longrightarrow$  @30-40 C for 15 mins 65mL H2O

- 3. Weigh
  - 1) 94g All-purpose wheat flour
  - 2) 2g Table salt-precisely!!!
  - 3) 6g Freeze-dried sourdough flour (6%-based on 100g of flour)

### 4. Kneading----Kitchen Aid

- 1) Right side---lock
- Left side----- @ Speed 2—2 mins
   @ Speed 5~6—3 mins
- 5. Grease the baking tray; Transfer the dough to proof chamber @ 30C for 1-1.5 hours Check volume
- 6. Dough shaping
- 7. Resting @ 30C for 1-1.5 hours; Check volume
- 8. Baking @ 210C(350F) for 25 mins
- 9. Cooling @room temperature for 2-3 hours.

Gene information	Primers (5' to 3')

VI. Plasmids Construction Information (Su, unpublished)	VI.	Plasmids	Construction	Information	(Su, u	inpublished)
---	-----	----------	--------------	-------------	--------	--------------

gls1	<i>E. coli</i> JM109 pJRS pKO-gls1-AB
	Primers
> In Marcia and Sabine's lab books,	
it is 69653 or 653 referred to	gls1-KO1-PstI
2500069653 L-glutaminase;. For	AACTGCAGGGGATTGTAACTTGAAATTAAC
publications, it should be <i>gls1</i>	
publications, it should be gist	
	gls1-KO2-BglII
> 021  hm	
> 921 bp	<b>GAAGATCT</b> TCATTCTTGAATTGCGTCATTAA
ATGAATCTTAATGACGCAATTCAAGAATGT	G
TGGAGCAAAATTGACGAGGGACAGGTAGCA	U
ACCTATATTCCTGCTTTAGCAAAAGTTGAC	
CCTTATCAACTTGGCGTTTACCTTTTTGAC	
GTCACAAATGATAAAAAAGTAGAAGCAGGC	
GCATCGCAAGTTCGGTTTGCTATCGAAAGT	gls1-KO3-BglII
GTCTCGAAAGTAATCACCCTCCTCTACGCA	
ATTGAACGTTTAGGCTTGTCAGCAGTTGAA	GAAGATCTAGGTACTAGTTGCAAATATTCGC
GAGCAAGTCGGAACACGCCAGACCGGCTTC CCGTTCGATACAATCCTTAACATGGAAATC	
ACTAAAGAGACCCACCCTCTCAATGCTTTT	
ATTAATAGTGGTGCCATCCTCATCAGTTCA	
TTAATCGAAGAACAAGATGGGCTTTCTCCC	gls1-KO4-BamHI
TTTGACCAAATCCTTGAATTTAGTCGTAAA	
ATTTGCAATGATCCTGATATCACCCTCAAT	CGGGATCCGATATTCAGCAGTCGAAAG
GAAGAAATTTACCAATCGGAGTTGCGAACC	
GGGGATATGAATCGGTCGTTAGCCTACTAT	Amino acid sequence Gls 1; 306 aa
CTCAAGGCCAAAGAAGTCCTCACTAATGAT GTAACCCTTAGCCTTGATACCTATTTTAAG	MNLNDAIQECWSKIDEGQVATYIPALAKVDPYQLGVYLFDVTN
CAGTGTTCAATGATGGTCACTTGCCAAAGT	DKKVEAGASQVRFAIESVSKVITLLYAIERLGLSAVEEQVGTR
CTTGCTAACCTCGGTGCTGTCCTTGCCAAT	QTGFPFDTILNMEITKETHPLNAFINSGAILISSLIEEQDGLS
GACGGGATCGCTCCTTGGAATAATGAACGA	PFDQILEFSRKICNDPDITLNEEIYQSELRTGDMNRSLAYYLK
ATCATTTCAAGCGAGGCTGCTACATATACA	AKEVLTNDVTLSLDTYFKQCSMMVTCQSLANLGAVLANDGIAP
AAATCGGTCATGATGACGACTGGCCTCTAC	WNNERIISSEAATYTKSVMMTTGLYNESGTYSVRI
AATGAATCAGGAACTTATTCCGTTCGAATC	GVPTKSGVGGGLVSAAPNHYGIGIFSPALDHAGNSVAGLALLE
GGTGTACCGACTAAGAGCGGTGTCGGTGGC	LISKKLKLDIFRY
GGTTTAGTTTCTGCTGCCCCCAATCATTAC	
GGGATCGGAATTTTCAGTCCGGCACTCGAC	
CTCCTTGAACTCATCAGTAAAAAATTAAAG CTTGATATTTTTAGGTAC <b>TAG</b>	
CITOMINITITINGOTACIAG	L

gls2	E. coli JM109 pJRS pKO-gls2-AB
> In Manaia and Sahina'a lab baalsa it	Primers
> In Marcia and Sabine's lab books, it	gls2-KO1-BamHI
is 70771 or 771 referred to	
2500070771 L-glutaminase;. For	CG <mark>GGATCC</mark> TTGCCGATGCATTAAC
publications, it should be gls2	
	gls2-KO2-XbaI
>915 bp	GCTCTAGACtATTGCTCTAATTTTTGCATCGT
ATGCCTTGCGTGAGAGAGGTTTTGACGATG CAAAAATTAGAGCAATTGATTGATAAAAAC TTTGCTGAAACAGCTCATGGTAAGGTTGCA AACTATATTCCGATATTAGGAATTGTTGAT CCGCAGCAACTGGGCATTGCCATTTATGAC GTTGACGAGGATGAAATTGGGACCGCTGGA ATGGCTGGAACGCGATTTGCAATTGAGAGT ATTGCAAAGGTCGTTGCCTTAATATTAGCG ATCAAGAGATTAGGACATGAGCGTGTCTTA GCAGAACTGGAAAATGGTTCGGCAGATTAT AGCCTAAGTTCGGTACTATTGGATGATGAG TTGACCGAGCAAGCACACCGAGTAAATTAC CTTAATAATTCCTCCGCCTTGTTAACGACA GCCTTAATTGACCAGTTGATGGGTCAAAAT AGTTTTAATGCTCTTCTCGGTTTCTGCCGG GAGATCTGCAATGACCCATGTATCAGTTTG AATGAGCGTTTGTTTCGATCGGCAATTATG	gls2-KO3-XbaI GCTCTAGATTAGAATTAGTAGTTTAATAAAA GCG gls2-KO4-PstI AACTGCAGGGAAACGCAGATGAGAG
AATGATAAAGATATTCATGCACTGGCTTAC TATATGAAAGATAAGGATATTTTAGAGACT GTTGATCAAACATTGATAACTTACTTTATG CAAAGCTCAATGATGGTGACATCACAGAGT CTGGCTAACTTAGGAGGAGTCTTGGCAAAT GATGGAATTAAACCTTGGAATAATGAGCGT CTTATTAGCCATGAAGATAACGAGTTGGTA AAGAAATTGCTAACAACAGTTGGTTCGTTT GAAGAATCAAAAGAATACACAATTAAAATT GAACTCCCTATTAAAAGTGGTACTGGCGGT GGCTTATTGGCTTGTGCCCCGCAAAAATGT GGTATTGGTATTTTTAGTCCAGCTCTTGAT CAACATGGCAATAGTTTGGCAGGAATGAGT TTATTACAAGATGTTGTTGATCAATTAGAA TTAGTAGTTTAA	Amino acid sequence Gls 2; 304 aa MQKLEQLIDKNFAETAHGKVANYIPILGIVDPQQLGIAIYDVD EDEIGTAGMAGTRFAIESIAKVVALILAIKRLGHERVLAELEN GSADYSLSSVLLDDELTEQAHRVNYLNNSSALLTTALIDQLMG QNSFNALLGFCREICNDPCISLNERLFRSAIMNDKDIHALAYY MKDKDILETVDQTLITYFMQSSMMVTSQSLANLGAVLANDGIK PWNNERLISHEDNELVKKLLTTVGSFEESKEYTIKIELPIKSG TGGGLLACAPQKCGIGIFSPALDQHGNSLAGMSLLQDVVDQLE LVV

gls3	E. coli JM109 pJRS pKO-gls3-AB
	Primers
> In Marcia and Sabine's lab books,	gls3-KO1-PstI
it is 71323 or 323 referred to	
2500071323 L-glutaminase;. For	AACTGCAGAAAAGCTTGGACAACCC
publications, it should be gls3	
	gls3-KO2-EcoRI
>921 bp	GGAATTCTTATTTAAGATCCAAAGTAATCACCTC
ATGAATCTTAATGACGCAATTCAAGAATGT TGGAGCAAAATTGACGAGGGACAGGTAGCA ACCTATATTCCTGCTTTAGCAAAAGTTGAC CCTTATCAACTTGGCGTTTACCTTTTTGAC GTCACAAATGATAAAAAAGTAGAAGCAGGC GCATCGCAAGTTCGGTTTGCTATCGAAAGT GTCTCGAAAGTAATCACCCTCCTCTACGCA ATTGAACGTTTAGGCTTGTCAGCAGTTGAA GAGCAAGTCGGAACACGCCAGACCGGCTTC CCGTTCGATACAATCCTTAACATGGAAATC ACTAAAGAGACCCACCCTCTCAATGCTTTT	gls3-KO3-EcoRI GGAATTCTTTCAGTACTAATAATTAAGGTCCAA gls3-KO4-BamHI CGGGATCCGCATGTGCTGAAAATTG
ATTAATAGTGGTGCCATCCTCATCAGTTCA TTAATCGAAGAACAAGATGGGCTTTCTCCC	COUVATCE UCATOTOCI UAAAATTU
TTTGACCAAATCCTTGAATTTAGTCGTAAA ATTTGCAATGATCCTGATATCACCCTCAAT GAAGAAATTTACCAATCGGAGTTGCGAACC	Amino acid sequence Gls 3; 306 aa
GGGGATATGAATCGGTCGTTAGCCTACTAT CTCAAGGCCAAAGAAGTCCTCACTAATGAT GTAACCCTTAGCCTTGATACCTATTTTAAG CAGTGTTCAATGATGGTCACTTGCCAAAGT CTTGCTAACCTCGGTGCTGTCCTTGCCAAT GACGGGATCGCTCCTTGGAATAATGAACGA ATCATTTCAAGCGAGGCTGCTACATATACA AAATCGGTCATGATGACGACTGGCCTCTAC AATGAATCAGGAACTTATTCCGTTCGAATC GGTGTACCGACTAAGAGCGGTGTCGGTGGC GGTTTAGTTTCTGCTGCCCCCAATCATTAC GGGATCGGAATTTTCAGTCCGGCACTCGAC CATGCTGGTAATAGTGTTGCCGGGCTAGCA CTCCTTGAACTCATCAGTAAAAAATTAAAG CTTGATATTTTAGGTACTAG	MDLKQVVDNNLAKTNLGKVANYIPALGKVDPKQLGIAVYDLNK DNITNAGNADVRFAIESISKVIVFLYAAKQLGLSNVTKHVGAR QTGFPFNSILNMEIEKAHYPLNPFINAGAIEVTSLIQPYNGKS PFDQIIQFAREICHDPQISLNSEIFESEDRTGDTDRSLAYYLK ANKMIHADVTTSLTTYFKQCSMMVTAISLANLGAVLANNGIKP WDNKRLVPTEVATYTKSLMTTTGLYNESGTYSSIIGVPTKSGV GGGLMSAAPNRFGIGIFSPPLDNAGNSVAGLAALEEISNELKI DIFQY

## V. Sequencing results for L. reuteri 100-23 Agls2-3 colony #4 and #5 (Figure1)

L. reuteri 100-23 Δgls2-3 colony #4 > Primer gls3-F 914bp NNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNTTTCNNTCNCCNCNAGTCNNTNTCTACCA TACAATTAATTTATTTATCAAATAAATAAGCTTGAATAAGCTTTTGTGTC CAAAAATAGACTTATTGCTTGTCGTTTTATATTTTATAACAGTATCCTAGC ATTTAGGAGGTGATTACTTTGGATCTTAAATAAGAATTCTTTCAGTACTA ATAATTAAGGTCCAACTCATACTAAATTCTTAACAAATGATTTTCTTACT TAAGAATCAATTTTTATCATTCGAGATATCATGAATGAGTCATAATATAG TTACAAATCCCCTTGATAATTGTAATGAATTATTGAGGGGGATTTATGTTT ATGAGATCAAATATAGAATTTTAATATGTATGATTAAAACAGAAACTAAA AAATAATTAGCAATTAATATAATTTTGCAATTTTTACAGTAAAAAGTANN GGAGAAAAGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGGAAAAAAAAGCCCCGNNTAAATTTCAA AAGGTGGACCCCNNAAAAAAAAATCCCCCTCAATAATTCATTACAATTATC AAGGGGGTTTNNNACTNTATTATGACTNATTCNNGAAANCCCGANNGNAA AAAATNGGTTCTAAGGAAAAAAACCTTTTTTAANGAATTTAGGNTGGGTN GGCCTAAATTTTTGGTNCTAAAAAATTTTTTTTTTTAGAACCNAGNAACCC CCCCCAAANCNGGGNNNNTTTNNAAANNANAANNCANGANAAAGNTTTTT TTTGNNNNNAAANTTTTNNNNNTTTTTTTTTTNNNAAAAAAANNNTTTNNG GGGAAAANNNGGGGGGGNGNNNAAAATTTTTTTNNNAAAAGCGNNNNNNGN GNNNTTNNAAAAAN

# VI. Sequencing results for *L. reuteri* 100-23 Δgls1-2-3 colony #7 and #8 (Figure1)

L. reuteri 100-23  $\Delta g/s$ 1-2-3 colony #7 >Primer gls1-F 540bp NNNNNNNANTGCATCNNTNNNNNNNNNNNNNNTATAACCGGTAGCT GGATCAATGATAAAGCAGTACCTTTTCAACGATTTGCGGTTAAAACCCAT GCTTATGAAGGCGGCGTTTCTCGTCTAGAAGATGGCGAAGAAGTAGATTA CGAGTTTATTGCTGATGCATATACTGGTAGTCTATTAGAATTAAAACGGA TTGAGAATAACTAGAGCAAAGGCTGGGGACAAATTCCCAGCGTTTTTAA TTAAAGGAGGATATCATGAATCTTAATGACGCAATTCAAGAATGAAGATC TAGGTACTAGTTGCAAATATTCGCCTCCTTATCGGGATCTACTTAATTAT ATTCAACGTTCAATCCAGTTTCGTTAATTACTATTCCAATTCAATATTC AGGTACATACCAAGAACATTTTTAGTATAATTAAGGCAATTGATGGCATAC GCTTTCACCAATAAGGAGGTTTCTCATGATGTATCCGGAAACAATCGGTC ATTCTTAAGNTACAGTAAAACNCCTTTGTNNAAANNNAAC

L. reuteri 100-23  $\Delta g/s$ 1-2-3 colony #7 >Primer gls1-r 553bp NNNNNNNNTCNGATCNGNNGANNNNTNNNNANNATACATCATGA GAAACCTCCTTATTGGTGAAAGCGTATCGCNTCAATTGCCTTAATTATAC TAAAAATGTTCTTGGTATGTACCTGAATATTGAATTGGAATAGTAAATTA ACGAAACTGGATTGAACGTTGAATATAAATTAAGTAGATCCCGATAAGGAG GCGAATATTTGCAACTAGTACCTAGATCTTCATTCTTGAATTGCGTCATT AAGATTCATGATATCCTCCTTTAATTAAAAACGCTGGGAAATTTGTCCCC AGCCTTTGCTCTAGTTATTCTCAATCCGTTTTAATTCTAATAGACTACCA GTATATGCATCAGCAATAAACTCGTAATCTACTTCTTCGCCATCTTCAG ACGAGAAACGCCGCCTTCATAAGCATGGGTTTTAACCGCAAATCGTTGAA AAGGTACTGCTTTATCATTGATCCAGCTACCGGTTAAAGAACCTTCACTT GCAAAATCGTTTTTGACTAATNTTAAGATCNNANANNNGNNNTTTTGGG NAA

L. reuteri 100-23  $\Delta g$ /s1-2-3 colony #8 > primer gls1-f 545bp NNNNNNNNNNNNNNNTTTGCAGTGAGNTTCTTTAACCGGTAGCTGGA TCAATGATAAAGCAGTACCTTTTCAACGATTTGCGGTTAAAACCCATGCT TATGAAGGCGGCGTTTCTCGTCTAGAAGATGGCGAAGAAGTAGATTACGA GTTTATTGCTGATGCATATACTGGTAGTCTATTAGAATTAAAACGGATTG AGAATAACTAGAGCAAAGGCTGGGGACAAATTTCCCAGCGTTTTTAATTA AAGGAGGATATCATGAATCTTAATGACGCAATTCCAGGATCTACTAG GTACTAGTTGCAAATATTCGCCTCCTTATCGGGATCTACTTAATTATTT CAACGTTCAATCCAGTTTCGTTAATTACTATTCCAATTCAATATTCAGG TACATACCAAGAACATTTTAGTAATTAAGGCAATTGATGCATACGCT TTCACCAATAAGGAGGTTTCTCATGATGTATCCGGTAACAATCGGTCATT CAGAAGTTAAAGNNAATCCCCTCCAANNNNGGANANNNNCTGTTAA

L. reuteri 100-23  $\Delta g$ /s1-2-3 colony #8 > primer gls1-r 550bp NNNNNNNNNNNNNTCTGATGACCGATTGTTACCGGATACATCATGA GAAACCTCCTTATTGGTGAAAGCGTATGCNTCAATTGCCTTAATTATACT AAAAATGTTCTTGGTATGTACCTGAATATTGAATTGGAATAGTAAATTAA CGAAACTGGATTGAACGTTGAATATAAATTAAGTAGATCCCGATAAGGAGG CGAATATTGCAACTAGTACCTAGATCTTCATTCTTGAATTGCGTCATTA AGATTCATGATATCCTCCTTTAATTAAAAAACGCTGGGAAATTTGTCCCCA GCCTTTGCTCTAGTTATTCTCAATCGTATCTACTTCTTCGCCATCTTCTAGA CGAGAAACGCCGCCTTCATAAGCATGGGTTTTAATTCTAATAGACTACCAG TATATGCATCAGCAATAAACTCGTAATCTACTTCTTCGCCATCTTCTAGA CGAGAAACGCCGCCTTCATAAGCATGGGTTTTAACCGCAAATCGTTGAAA AGGTACTGCTTTATCATTGATCCAGCTACCGGTTAAAGAACCTTCACTTG CAAAATCGTTTTTGACTAATTTTAAGATCCGATCANANNNTTTGGGAAN